Historical Background Section

By Vivien E. Rose

Introduction:  A Home for Civic Mindedness

This historical background section provides information about people and events associated with the Hunt House, 1828-2009, drawing on primary sources from the period of significance andbaseline resource surveys completed by the National Park Service (most importantly the Historic Resource Study and National Register of Historic Places documentation).  To a limited extent, scholarly books and articles provide context to explain the importance of the site and the families that resided there to history and to the present.

Built for a civic and family-minded settler of Waterloo, New York, the Richard P. and Jane Hunt House is listed in the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion A in the areas of social history and politics/government as the site of planning the nation’s first women’s rights convention and under Criterion B as the residence of Richard P. Hunt and his third and fourth wives, Sarah M’Clintock Hunt and Jane Clothier Master Hunt.  It is locally significant for Hunt’s role as a major local industrialist and developer.  The house and grounds are within the Women’s Rights National Historical Park District.  Sites within the district related to the 1848 First Women’s Rights Convention share a single period of significance between 1836, when the Thomas and Mary Ann M’Clintock Family arrived in Waterloo, and 1862, when Elizabeth Cady Stanton and her family left Seneca Falls.  The period 1836 to 1862 also marked the height of Hunt family involvement in efforts for regional economic and social development and reform.  With limited exceptions at the local level, only the eldest two daughters, Mary and Sarah, appear to have continued active involvement in poor relief and women’s rights beyond 1863.
      
Previous work on the 1848 first women’s rights convention focused on the importance of Elizabeth Cady Stanton as an early leader of the women’s rights movement.  Later historians described the active Quaker religious and anti-slavery networks that held experience and knowledge of how to start and sustain a movement.  Judith Wellman in particular has bridged these two perspectives in her work on the 1848 first women’s rights convention. 
 

Anne M. Derousie investigated pre-existing social networks between signers of the Declaration of Sentiments issued by the 1848 first women’s rights convention.  Stanton may have urged a convention; the M’Clintocks may have brought in networks of reformers and social movement skills.  Derousie argues that, while these were important resources, the simple fact is that Richard P. Hunt’s substantial home and relationships with community leaders in Seneca Falls and Waterloo provided the ground on which the convention successfully occurred.  Involvement in agricultural reform, business development, internal improvements, education, and other civic issues reflected a belief that society was built.  When Richard P. Hunt supported the nation’s first women’s rights convention with his presence and his signature, a substantial portion of the community stood with him.  His home was essential to the women’s rights movement because community support was essential to the women’s rights movement.
   
The Hunt House served Waterloo and multiple generations of the Hunt family as a residence and working farm of nearly 150 acres.  The house and a lot of less than two acres sold out of the family in 1919.  Two generations of Irving P. Greenwood’s extended family used the house and landscape of slightly more than five acres between 1944 and 1999.  

Intervening owners Clifford L. Beare and Roy A. Brewster operated independent businesses from the property between 1919 and 1944, while significantly altering the remaining home and landscape.  Clifford L. Beare completed the most extensive changes to the building exterior since the mid-1840s and expanded the lot to slightly more than five acres.  Roy A. Brewster added tourist cottages to the landscape.  

Though separated by a century, the origins, family-mindedness, business activities, and community roles of Richard P. Hunt and Irving T. Greenwood bear a striking resemblance.  Their wives, Jane M. Hunt and Marie Greenwood, both became widows and both continued their husbands’ important legacies.  Hunt and Greenwood children remained involved in local economic endeavors and cultural and charitable organizations after their fathers’ deaths.  

The Hunt House stands as a testament to the values of individual, family, and community well-being.  Its owners and residents applied the activities of agriculture, business, development, religion, education, political action and reform as tools to achieve these ends.   The networks established through these activities launched the First Women’s Rights Convention in Seneca County and in the nation in 1848.  
I.
The Hunt Family Home, 1828-1919

Richard P. Hunt (Figure 1) came to Waterloo from the Hudson Valley in 1821 to establish a general store, “Hunt and Hoyt.”  Between 1821 and 1828, Hunt operated this store with his partner, selling flour and wheat on the New York City market through Edward G. Faile & Co., which operated as agent and banker.  As there was little cash, Hunt traded goods (cloth, spices, preserved fish, metal goods, coffee, tobacco, and tea) for agricultural products (wheat, flour, timothy and clover seed, butter, pork, dried fruit).  He built a small frame house and looked for opportunities to expand his business.  In 1823 the Chatham Fire Insurance Company appointed him as their agent.  He served as Waterloo’s assessor in 1824.  He entered into partnership on a cooper shop, destroyed by fire in 1826, and in early 1827 purchased castings and bolting cloth for a mill.   At the end of the year he purchased the 145.5 acre Van Tuyl farm on the eastern edge of Waterloo.  

Hunt built a home and farm that served as the center for an extended family network and of an economic network that included markets in New York City and sources for raw materials for his woolen mill.  It was home to Hunt’s active and consistent efforts to increase the well-being of the community in which he lived.  Hunt benefited from access to relatively inexpensive land, a growing transportation system, and steady markets in New York City during his lifetime.  His growing wealth was tied to a large family network through mortgages and rental of property that supported growth in and around Waterloo.  His reform activities grew from an awareness of the importance of property and capital to human improvement and evidenced themselves in anti-Masonic activity, elective office, business ownership, bank trusteeship, agricultural booster, landowning and building.  He supported transportation infrastructure investment and establishment of cultural institutions like the county house for the poor, churches and schools. For these reasons, his home is recognized as locally significant for Hunt’s role as a major local industrialist and developer.

As National Register documentation and a recent dissertation show, the Hunt Family home played a particularly important part in growing anti-slavery and women’s rights activism between period between 1836 and 1862.  Hunt’s third wife, Sarah M’Clintock Hunt, brought her family and its radical actions against slavery to the home.  Through her, R.P. Hunt was involved in local and national anti-slavery organizations.  The home is a documented site on the Underground Railroad.  R.P. Hunt’s fourth wife, Jane Clothier Master Hunt, (Figure 2) hosted the event which led to the nation’s first women’s rights convention, earning the home national significance in the areas of social history and politics and government.  Perhaps the most important thing about the home is that Richard P. Hunt’s business, economic, family, religious, and civic networks formed the base of support for advances in many arenas, including the early women’s rights movement.  After his death in 1856, his wife and daughters supported anti-slavery and women’s rights activities through the Civil War and into the 1860s.  After 1862, with rare exception, active Hunt family involvement in reform dwindled to reform society memberships, land donation for a church, poor relief, and involvement in the 1870s in establishing Waterloo’s Library and Historical Society.   

Family records show Hunt’s active engagement in local and regional networks through 1856.  Regrettably, records after Richard P. Hunt’s death are less available and illuminating.  While Hunt died possessed of large property, networks necessary to maintain markets in New York City and other places seem to have dwindled with each successive generation.  Sons William M. Hunt and George T. Hunt each ran the farm for a few years in the 1870s; in the 1890s Montgomery Whiteside operated a brickyard on the property.  In the 1900s, George T. Hunt, Jr. worked and sold land.  Jane Hunt’s death in 1889 signaled the end of an era.  By the early 1900s, only daughter Mary M. Hunt and descendants of George T. Hunt, R.P Hunt’s youngest son, remained in Waterloo.  In 1905, grandson Richard “Pell” Hunt wrote from Bradford, Pa. that Hunt relatives would have little reason to return to “Old Waterloo…no business for them there.”   In 1919, the home was sold out of the family. 
  

A. 1828-1856 Richard P. Hunt Family

1.  1828-36 Creating a Home Place  

Richard P. Hunt built his home with funds inherited after his father’s death in 1821 and his mother’s in 1828.  In 1828, Hunt’s sisters, Mary and Lydia, moved to Waterloo with their husbands, Elijah P. Quinby and Randolph Mount, while sister Eliza and husband Benjamin Underhill located in nearby Wolcott.  Hunt sold his store to Elijah Quinby and Randolph Mount purchased farm land near the edge of town.  The transition from store owner to landholder and farmer was not easy; however Hunt now had family around him, all building new homes in 1828 and 1829.
  

In 1829, Hunt built his home, shipping materials from Massachusetts for door and window sills and hearths, procuring 82,000 bricks, and buying enough wood for a picket fence to separate the front from the main road.  L. R. LaBattell completed the work.  Hunt’s new home replaced his former home, office and store in downtown Waterloo.  With an active farm and extensive business and political network, Hunt required an office for managing the farm and for meeting with business associates.  The “hall bedroom” of the probate inventory following Hunt’s death may have served as a home office through this period.  In addition to his sisters’ families, Hunt maintained economic ties to Kendig in-laws and to business partners including Jacob P. Chamberlain, Joel F. Bacon, Azaliah Schooley, and others.
    
Richard P. Hunt moved with his wife, Matilda, to a farm well situated for transport of agricultural products to local mills or to the New York City market, with both turnpike and canal access.   It provided ample room for household help, for visiting relatives, and for an office.  Outbuildings stored equipment and animals. Hunt purchased a horse in January, 1829, perhaps for transportation into town.
 

Hunt had been selling flour and wheat taken in trade from farmers through E.G Faile and Co., NYC, for years.  While some authors consider that Hunt had “retired” from his mercantile business, in fact his attention turned from buying and selling others’ goods to growing, processing, and transporting goods of his own.  He also began to buy and sell property and briefly held public office.
    

Richard P. Hunt did not belong to a particular party, but when the Town of Junius separated into four townships including Waterloo in April, 1829, he was unanimously voted in as Town Supervisor.  The separation led to fears among Hunt’s associates that the county might be split as Masonic and Anti-Masonic Parties argued about local control and about access to public funds.  Hunt gained a reputation for carefully reviewing submitted bills and supported a measure approved by county supervisors to raise public funds for a county poor house in January, 1830.  Hunt ran for and was reelected to office in spring, 1830, the last time he held political office.
  

Meanwhile he began to lend money and buy and sell property.  As executor of his father’s estate, he handled settlement of notes against his father’s properties in downstate New York.  He held liens on a variety of properties, served as a witness to building contracts, advised on creditworthiness, and bought mortgages from others in need of cash.  Between June, 1832 and April, 1833, he retained kept an account of payments to Seba Murphy, County Clerk, to prepare and record deeds, mortgages, and mortgage discharges on properties he owned.
  

Hunts first wife, Matilda Kendig Hunt died in August 1832, a few years after moving into the home they built and before Hunt had really had an opportunity to develop their farm.  He advertised the farm for sale through the winter and spring of 1833, but seems to have decided to stay shortly after he became a charter member of the Seneca County Bank in March 1833.  Capital stock of 4000 shares at $50.00 sold out immediately, with Hunt only being able to purchase 30 shares for himself.   Hunt married Ann Underhill in February, 1834 and was elected first Vice President of the Seneca County Bank in May; he resigned a few days after Ann Hunt died on July 4, 1834.
  

Still childless, Hunt determined to go “on with any business as heretofore” after Ann Hunt’s death.  He hired a housekeeper and possibly a farm manager and turned his attention to building his farm, properties and businesses.  He had subscribed to the Genesee Farmer in 1831.  In October 1834, he joined other farmers in the creation of the Junius and Waterloo Association for the Improvement in Stock.  As the first treasurer, he managed association funds including the purchase of a Durham heifer that year, and stud fees for bull and boar owned by the association.  It is possible that some of these cattle resided on the Hunt Farm.  He also began to search for opportunities to manufacture high end goods from local agricultural products.  In 1836, Hunt joined with John Sinclair and Jesse Clark to form the Waterloo Woolen Manufacturing Company, “to secure a home market for the wool-clip of this and adjacent counties.”  The mill purchased all necessary water rights and erected its first building in 1836 and early 1837.
   

Although no farm records exist from this period, Hunt’s growing network and activities indicate that he intended to grow grains, cattle, and possibly sheep to provide wool for the woolen mill.   He traded wool, tallow, and clover seed on account at his brother-in-law Quinby’s store.  A single receipt in 1834 for sawing siding, flooring, boards, planks and other wood may indicate that Hunt was clearing fields for production.  Between 1833 and 1836, Hunt had many fences built as well.
  

The first several years of life in the house included two funerals, employment of a housekeeper and farm manager, and active involvement in business.  Hunt’s extended family visited, as did travelers from a network of Quakers including relatives in New York City, Long Island, and New Jersey.  Based on economic activity it seems clear that Hunt also had visits from representatives of the bank, the woolen mill, the stock improvement society, and possibly local elected officials.  The formal parlor and dining room would be adequate and appropriate for family; an office for records, investments, and farm business.  

Hunt’s network expanded again in late 1836.  Thomas M’Clintock, a Philadelphia Quaker, pharmacist, and anti-slavery reformer, traveled through upstate New York in July, 1836 representing the Green Street Monthly Meeting.  Between July and October, M’Clintock and his family purchased the S. Lundy and Son store at the east end of the Lundy block on the north side of West Main St. in Waterloo.  They joined the nearby Hicksite Quaker Junius Monthly Meeting while renting Hunt’s property behind the store.  In December, M’Clintock announced his store and pharmacy open for business.
  
2.  1836-1856 Renovation and Reform: A Bedrock for Rights 
M’Clintock store accounts give evidence of Hunt’s home needs:  R.P. Hunt’s account included fabric and sewing notions charged to his housekeeper, Amy Mosher.  Hunt paid also for a new kitchen and woodhouse for the M’Clintock rental house in 1837, as well as some alterations including water lining the cellar. 
 

The M’Clintocks did more than affect Hunt’s staff and repair bills.  Sarah M’Clintock, their niece, married Richard P. Hunt in September 1837.  The scant five years of their marriage produced three children, renovations to the house and a decided turn toward active reform in R.P. Hunt’s activities.  Sarah M’Clintock, a member of the Junius Monthly Meeting, shared her uncle and aunt’s determined opposition to slavery and to orthodoxy in the Quaker tradition.  After her death in July 1842 at the age of thirty-six, Hunt found his fourth wife, Jane Clothier Master, among close friends of the M’Clintocks.  The daughter of a known Philadelphia abolitionist, she was also sister-in-law to George P. Truman, a Hicksite Quaker minister and doctor.  Her sister, Catharine Master Hunt, was active on the women’s committee of the Philadelphia Yearly Meeting.  Jane Clothier Master Hunt married Hunt in March 1845.
  

Between 1836 and 1856, the Hunt House fulfilled five functions:  it was the seat of an increasingly productive farm, it housed Hunt’s business activities, it served as a place of welcome for more relatives and friends, it provided refuge for freedom seekers and reform activities and finally, it was home to a growing family.  Alterations in 1841 reflect the growth of the family and of Hunt’s businesses with an expanded north wing and new west wing attached to the main house by a doorway, and possibly an additional bedroom on the first floor of the main block.
A Productive Farm

Though no records exist for the productivity of the farm, the 1840 census showed nine persons, three employed in agriculture, residing in the Hunt home.  In addition to Richard and Sarah Hunt, and their two children, two males aged 30-40 years, two females aged 20 to 30 years, and one female aged 10-20 years resided in their home.  Hunt and the two males aged 30-40 years were the likely workers.
   

As the founding chairman of the Seneca County Agricultural and Horticultural Society, established in June 1837, R.P. Hunt helped support agriculture throughout the county.  The society issued premiums for judging for excellence in crops and cattle.  Hunts’ white carrot, rutabaga and mangel wurzel crops won awards in 1842. He was one of nine vice presidents of the society in 1844, reelected in 1850.

According to the 1850 federal Census of Agriculture, Hunt farmed 450 acres of improved land and 75 acres of unimproved land.  The home farm included nearly 146 acres; the other 380 acres may have been owned by Hunt and farmed by others.  The cash value of the farm, livestock and implements was $20,000.  Livestock included 13 horses, 12 milk cows, 8 working oxen, 18 other cattle, 275 sheep and 30 swine.  Crops included 1120 bushels of wheat, 1000 bushels of Indian corn, 500 bushels of oats, 670 lbs of wool, 80 bushels of peas or beans, 250 bushels of Irish potatoes, 340 bushels of barley, 60 bushels of buckwheat, 500 lbs. of butter, and 120 tons of hay.  While the home farm included only about 30 percent of the acreage reported, the Agricultural Census showed efforts to diversify crops and livestock.  Hunt’s labor force on his home farm was down to himself and George Hunter, a 30 year old Irish-born laborer.  Two other Irish-born lived there as well:  25 year old Anne McClelland and 13 year old Elizabeth Hennard.

Weather in 1852 worked against a productive harvest.  In August, Hunt wrote to his son that a cold, wet spring followed by summer drought had dried pastures, damaged corn, and increased weevil damage to wheat.  The small hay crop would make it difficult to fatten cattle for beef.    Perhaps because of the weather, Hunt decided that his son would continue at boarding school through the following spring.   No longer a merchant himself, he was convinced that farming was profitable.  In spring, his son could “return home, and work on the Farm & try to get a Sufficient Knowledge of Farming to get a good comfortable living.  It is much the most certain way.”
  

Through weekly letters to Richard Hunt from his sisters Mary and Sarah, Hunt’s son learned of farm activities.  1853 was a better year.  During the butchering season, R.P. Hunt killed 16 hogs, 12 chickens, and a young ox, selling the meat of several of them.  In February 1854, Jane Hunt “received a premium for her butter…quite a feather in her cap.” A month later, Sarah Hunt reported to her brother that they had thrashed 60 bushels using an ox team, while three men could only thrash 24 bushels in a day.
 

 An Office for Business Activity

Looking for a market for wool, Hunt found a trusted agent.  Isaac Mosher, the principal agent for getting stock for the Waterloo Woolen Manufacturing Company, became Hunt’s private agent in this period.   Like Hunt, Mosher was born and reared as a Quaker and was “a man of peace” deeply trusted by Hunt.  Keeping track of Hunt’s lands, buildings, farm, and the businesses and organizations he supported, as well as accounts in Hunt’s name charged by Mosher’s mother Amy in 1837, indicate a close relationship. It is possible that the one story west wing, listed as a “sitting room” in the 1856 inventory of R.P. Hunt’s estate, was built as an office for Hunt and Mosher in 1841.  With a separate front door, it was removed from but close to family activity.
  

Hunt remained a trustee of Seneca County Bank through his death in 1856.  He was a founding member of the Seneca County Mutual Insurance Company, incorporated in April, 1839.  The Village of Waterloo incorporated in 1839 with several boundary changes, Hunt’s homestead farm marking the eastern boundary.   

Agriculture-related enterprises including the Waterloo Woolen Manufacturing Company occupied Hunt through this period.  As noted, the Waterloo Woolen Mill began operation in fall of 1837; Hunt served as secretary until his death.  Early production was limited to broadcloth and cassimeres, but was the mill was “in trouble” by 1848. “Cousin Richard says the Mexican War will ruin everything,” Elizabeth M’Clintock wrote.  About that time, the owners shifted to men’s and women’s fancy shawls wholesaled to Boston, New York, Philadelphia, and other major markets.  Calvin W. Cook, the manager from 1846 through 1873, employed 180 hands and produced 125 shawls a day by the mid-1850s.  As secretary of the board of trustees, Hunt corresponded with elected officials about use of water rights and the canal.  In 1846, he wrote to Elias Cost, New York State Assembly representative, in opposition to construction of a dam on the Seneca and Cayuga Canal near Waterloo.  In 1850, his petition on behalf of the Waterloo Woolen works for damages sustained by raising this dam was presented by State Senator Henry B. Stanton.

Hunt owned stock in several local businesses, including the Waterloo Cotton factory, established in 1846.  By 1852, it had fallen on hard times.  Hunt and other stockholders gathered to protect their investments.  The same firm that managed sales for the Waterloo Woolen mill agreed to work with Hunt to run the cotton mill until it could pay its debts.  Hunt wrote to his son in January 1853, “I am kept very busy this winter as in addition to my usual business I am now running the cotton factory.”  Accounts in the Hunt Family Papers show that Hunt ran the mill through 1856.
 

Hunt expanded his real estate holdings throughout this period.  In 1838 he purchased six village lots, in 1839 another eleven.  An 1838 receipt in the Hunt Family Papers for building a house with woodshed and cistern appears to be for housing for four families, possibly mill workers.  In 1839, Hunt built the first of three business blocks in downtown Waterloo.  Thomas M’Clintock moved his drug and bookstore to the new location directly behind his rented home.  By 1856, the three blocks were complete.  In addition to these lots, Hunt owned farmland.  He invested in Illinois state bonds in 1841, which may have drawn his eye to land there; by 1855 he owned a share of an Illinois farm.  Hunt’s eldest son worked that farm with Hunt’s partner, returning from Illinois when Hunt entered his final illness in late summer, 1856.
  

By the mid-1850s, Hunt’s efforts attracted the attention of New York State biographers.  Although Hunt declined to send in a biography and daguerreotype for publication in the next edition, he was invited to be included in John Livingston’s annual dictionary of distinguished New York men.  His refusal indicated Quaker values of humility and frugality that were trademarks of his business practices.  It may also have reflected a concern for liquid cash as he didn’t pay for boarding school for his daughters, or for unnecessary tolls.
   

While Hunt increased his business network between 1836 and 1856, many business partners were relatives.  His brother-in-law Elijah P. Quinby purchased Hunt’s store in the late 1820s.  Brother-in-law Randolph Mount and family lived on and operated a farm Hunt owned.  Thomas M’Clintock rented his house and store from Richard P. Hunt.  Hunt held many notes and mortgages for relatives throughout the period.  His relatives charged him for goods provided to him as well.  In 1837, he purchased three comforters, three quilts, cordwood, and ploughing from Margaret and George Pryor, Sarah Hunt’s aunt and uncle, and sold veal and butter to E.P. Quinby.  In 1841, he received liverwort syrup, cord wood and 1 ¼” floorboards from Randolph Mount in exchange for plowing, 1 board of white pine, ½ barrel of sweet potatoes and five pounds of crackers.  Similar receipts document regular economic exchanges throughout the period.  Hunt was well aware of tracking costs, a skill he passed on to his children.  Perhaps the most telling evidence of this care is a receipt for 25 cents from 7 year old Willie Hunt to his mother for a chicken.
  
A Place of Welcome for Relatives and Friends

Family letters include descriptions of frequent visits between the Hunts and M’Clintocks in Waterloo, between area siblings, nieces and nephews, and between Jane Hunt’s sister and brother-in-law, Catherine and George Truman of Philadelphia.  Hunt daughters stayed overnight at the M’Clintock House when poor weather hampered return at the end of a school day, went to parties at their cousins’ homes, and visited back and forth with Truman cousins.  The dining room and parlor hosted Quakers attending monthly and yearly meetings in the vicinity.  The house bustled with activity; weekly letters from Mary and Sarah Hunt to their brother Richard at  boarding school in the early 1850s report the comings and goings of domestic and agricultural servants as well as family events.  Relatives from far away stayed for days, weeks or months.
 

The explosion of relatives that began with Sarah M’Clintock resulted in renovations to add to the comfort of relatives and friends.  Receipts from a May 1841 shopping trip to the Hunts’ respective home cities of Philadelphia and New York outfitted a dining room with a mahogany dining table, damask tablecloths and napkins, china sets, cups, pitchers, serving dishes and silver dessert spoons.  For the kitchen, a cook stove with boiler and 24 feet of riser pipe likely heated the downstairs and a new upstairs in the north wing; new pots and pans included two waffle irons.  A new bedroom off the first floor main hall may have been for family:  it included a French bedstead, bed ticking and new sheets and blankets.   Carpet and carpet rods covered the stairs to the second floor.  While the Hunts may have been refurnishing their parlor, it is also possible that the new sofa, chairs, brussels rug and two spittoons were for a new office in a new west wing.
  

Lacking early journals or letters, it is not clear who visited the Hunts before 1846.  Later letters chronicle a lengthy visit from a Truman niece to the Hunts in early summer, 1846 and the visit of a different niece in the fall of 1851.  George and Margaret Pryor spend time in the house in September 1852; cousin Elizabeth M’Clintock Phillips stayed with them about the same time, just before the New York Woman’s Rights Convention in Syracuse.  Anna and Henry Laing, Jane Hunt’s newly married niece and nephew-in-law, stayed with the Hunts while on their wedding trip.  These are just some examples of long visits to the Hunt home by relatives.   While with the Hunts, relatives made formal visits to local extended Hunt family members.  In 1856, George Truman wrote to his family that he and several other visitors made a formal visit to Eliza Hunt Underhill in Wolcott, NY, though she and her sisters were in and out of the Hunt House helping to nurse their brother in his last illness.

A Refuge for Freedom Seekers and Reformers

While Hunt grew his business and family, his relationship with Sarah M’Clintock expanded his family and his reform network.   Hunt and other Waterloo boosters, including Hunt’s brother-in-law Samuel Birdsall and associate Gardner Welles, supported colonization of freed U.S. slaves in an independent African nation.  All were life members of the New York State Colonization Society.  Hunt’s new activism surprised Birdsall who, in 1838, was the local representative to Congress.  Hunt submitted an abolition petition to Birdsall to introduce to Congress; Birdsall responded hoping that Hunt show caution while supporting his new radical abolitionist friends.  Hunt continued to follow his wife’s reform tendencies.  He and Thomas M’Clintock were listed as members of the American Anti-Slavery Society (AASS) in 1838-1839.  The Hunts attended the inaugural meeting of the Western New York Anti-Slavery Society (WNYASS) with Margaret and George Pryor in February, 1839.  That same month, Mary Ann M’Clintock submitted a women’s petition against admission of Texas and any state allowing slavery to Congress.  In May, Hunt and M’Clintock attended the AASS convention, voting to allow women to be listed as attendees and to serve on committees.  This and other issues split the AASS that year.  William Lloyd Garrison’s faction, which sought immediate abolition of slavery, retained the name and publication of AASS.   Hunt sent Garrison, the editor of The Liberator, a gift of olive colored superfine wool cloth from the Waterloo Woolen Manufacturing Company in 1840 for a suit to wear at the World Anti-Slavery Convention in London. Hunt’s involvement in reform continued into 1841 with a subscription to the Pennsylvania Freeman.  In 1842, he served as an officer of WYNASS with Thomas M’Clintock and Margaret Pryor.  These forays into anti-slavery reform were both an expansion of Hunt’s earlier support for colonization of U.S. freed slaves to Africa and supportive of his new relatives.
  

Between Sarah Hunt’s death in 1842 and Hunt’s marriage to Jane Master in 1845, there is little evidence of Hunt’s reform activity.  Hunt may have met his fourth wife, Jane Master, through the M’Clintock family as her sister and brother-in-law, Catherine and George Truman, were long-time friends of Thomas and Mary Ann M’Clintock and Lucretia and James Mott.  Jane Master, from a Philadelphia Quaker and anti-slavery family, also appears to have been less active than her predecessor.   However the Hunts’ support was invaluable in the success of a Waterloo anti-slavery fair in the winter of 1847.   Members of the Western New York Anti-Slavery Society, including the  M’Clintocks, staged the fair.  They were “assisted by those who hold the first rank in society,” who drew their network to the fair.  Cousins Elizabeth and Mary Ann M’Clintock wrote that “…the Seneca Falls ladies expressed their surprise at seeing in attendance ‘the upper ten’ from their place,” something that would be “impossible” at “such a Fair in their own village.”
  

This network came into view again after Lucretia Coffin Mott and her sister Martha Coffin Wright visited their friends in Waterloo and Seneca Falls in July 1848 at the well-appointed Hunt House.  For Stanton, Mott and Wright, the M’Clintock house two blocks from Waterloo’s train depot would appear the easier choice.   Yet the friendly gathering including Mott, Wright, Mary Ann M’Clintock, and Elizabeth Cady Stanton occurred at Jane Hunt’s home.  Perhaps Catherine Truman, knowing her sister Jane was expecting her second child, asked Mott to look in on her.  Perhaps the four first gathered at the M’Clintock House and decided to visit the house-bound Hunt.  Perhaps, as Elizabeth Cady Stanton wrote in her autobiography nearly fifty years later, Jane Hunt invited the group to gather at her home, allowing her to care for her days-old infant while not missing the visiting Mott.

That meeting is the reason that the Hunt House was first listed in the National Register of Historic Places.  As the women gathered there originated and planned the nation’s first women’s rights convention, they put their considerable experience petitioning for new laws, organizing fundraisers, speaking or acting against slavery, and organizing and attending conventions to use.  Richard Hunt’s economic and political network supported their efforts at the convention a few days later.
  

Like the 1847 anti-slavery fair, the success of the 1848 First Woman’s Rights Convention rested on the assistance of the “first rank” of business and political leaders in Seneca Falls and Waterloo, held together in the person of Richard P. Hunt.  James Mott’s leadership of the public discussion on the convention’s second day and Thomas M’Clintock’s contributions helped demonstrate male support of women’s claims.  While previous women’s rights efforts existed, never before was a statement of principles and an action agenda debated and set forth.  The assistance of Richard P. Hunt’s economic, political, civic, religious and family network, represented in the signers of the Declaration of Sentiments, materially supported the nascent movement.
  
The network was in view as Elizabeth Cady Stanton came to know the Hunts better in the late 1840s and early 1850s.  She already knew the M’Clintocks through her husband, the Motts, the M’Clintock’s niece, Elizabeth Neall Gay, and Stanton’s sister and brother-in-law, Tryphena and Edward Bayard.  After 1848, Stanton was a regular visitor to the M’Clintocks.  She may have been a welcome companion to Jane Hunt as well.  R.P. Hunt reported to Mott that Stanton’s first speech in September 1848, at the Junius Monthly meetinghouse: the speech was good, though Stanton’s headgear, “a kind of turban with bows” was a bit theatrical for a Quaker meeting house.  In April 1849, Elizabeth M’Clintock reported that Stanton had been ill or away most of the winter, but she helped her prepare an application for a position in a silk-importing business in Philadelphia later that year and shared M’Clintock’s ire when the negative response included caricatures and lampoons.  The firm complained that M’Clintock had not acted in “the right spirit” when she responded in kind.  M’Clintock thought “they must set it down as one of the ‘sad consequences’ of the [convention] at [Seneca] Falls.” Stanton’s support was important to M’Clintock, who described the whole family as “dull and gloomy” that Stanton planned to spend January through March, 1850 in Johnstown while Henry Stanton served in the New York State Senate.    Letters between visiting Truman nieces and home mentioned Stanton and Amelia Bloomer as guests in the Hunt House.
  

As part of the M’Clintock/Mott network through Sarah M’Clintock Hunt and the Trumans, Jane and Richard P. Hunt knew of and participated in reform activities.  The M’Clintocks attended Anti-Slavery conventions and fairs in 1850.  The Motts and Mary Ann and James Truman helped organize the June 1852 Woman’s Rights Convention in West Chester, PA.  In September, the Motts visited Waterloo before continuing to the Syracuse Woman’s Rights Convention with the M’Clintocks.  R.P. Hunt gave eldest daughter Mary (Figure 3) permission to attend as well.  She declined, but wished her parents, who stayed home because the new baby, George, was “rather young to be left at home,” could have gone.  Instead, the Hunts heard Mrs. E. Oakes Smith, the convention’s president, and Mrs. Ernestine Rose speak in Waterloo a few days after the convention.

While evidence of Hunt family involvement in the anti-slavery and women’s rights movements fades after 1852, that year Hunt was appointed to the building committee of the county poorhouse to replace the original accommodations for the poor.  About a mile south of Waterloo, the fireproof limestone building was completed in 1853.  Hunt had served on the committee that first established the county poorhouse in 1829 and 1830.   The Hunts’ continued interest in reform was reflected, as in many reform families, by toys, dolls, books and play acting that reinforced reform ideas for the younger generation.  In January 1853, Sarah (Figure 4) received some Uncle Tom’s Cabin cards from her cousin Mary Truman, and in November, she acted the part of the character “Topsy” in a school play.  In March 1854, the Hunt girls went with their M’Clintock cousins to see a production of Uncle Tom’s Cabin in Seneca Falls.  The Hunts also supported temperance.  When New York State passed a law modeled on Maine’s law restricting alcohol production and sale, Mary Hunt wrote to Richard, “Has thee heard the Maine Law passed in the State what a good thing it is…”
 

When not themselves active reformers, the Hunt family continued to be supporters of reform through 1856.  They attended the Junius monthly and yearly meetings of the Friends of Human Progress, the local Quaker offshoot dedicated to Human Progress.  After the M’Clintocks’ move to Easton, PA, in 1856, James and Mary Ann M’Clintock Truman and other younger members of Junius Monthly meeting continued to make annual religious meetings into reform gatherings.  In August 1856, George Truman attended the Junius meeting, noting that the “young folks have concluded to keep up the meeting.”  Because of the focus on reform, Truman wrote his wife that “it does not appear so much like a Friends meeting… .” In addition to the reform speeches made at, and petitions sent from, the Junius meeting, family members attended reform events or entertained reformers.  Members of the extended family attended a performance of the Hutchinson Family Singers, a well-known reform group, in October.  A few weeks after Richard P. Hunt’s death and funeral in 1856, a different Hutchinson, Rev. Samuel Hutchinson, “a colored preacher from Niagara, Canada West,” visited the Hunt family while in Waterloo raising funds for the safe house for freedom seekers that he managed just across the border from Niagara Falls.
  

Home to a Growing Family

Between 1836 and 1856, residents in Richard P. Hunt’s household grew from himself and hired staff to himself, spouse and six children, and staff.  Although Hunt used Quaker forms of speech, attended meeting, and exhibited Quaker values of frugality, humility, and service, and although he was reared by former Quakers, he himself was not a member of any Quaker meeting.  As Quaker discipline forbade marriage outside the faith, both Sarah M’Clintock and Jane Master were expelled from their meetings for marrying Hunt: M’Clintock in 1838 and Master in 1846.  Sarah M’Clintock Hunt made her apologies and was accepted as a member of the Junius Monthly Meeting.   Jane Master Hunt refused.  Hunt family members attended the Junius Monthly Meeting throughout this period, but only Sarah M’Clintock Hunt was a member.  Hunt’s brother-in-law, Elijah P. Quinby, was a member, as were the M’Clintocks.  As a cultural Quaker, Hunt attended meetings but did not adhere to discipline: Quakers did not hold public office as Hunt had in the 1820s.
   

Acknowledging this helps clarify the relation between family, religion and reform in the Hunt household.  Reared as a Quaker, Hunt found three of his wives in the Quaker community.  His children grew up using Quaker language patterns, especially using “thee” for you and thine for yours.  His agent, Isaac Mosher, was Quaker; his extended family was Quaker.  The family kept Quaker ideas about simplicity of clothing and about reform.   After 1848, the Junius Yearly Meeting became a site of reform.  For the Hunts, family, belief and reform coalesced there through the 1860s.

The arrival of Hunts’ first son, Richard, on July 4, 1838, followed in quick succession by daughters Mary and Sarah, appears to have moved R.P. Hunt’s attention to educational opportunities in the Village of Waterloo.  In 1839, he was a founding trustee of the Waterloo Academy, incorporated in 1842.  It is not known where young Richard received his early schooling, but cousin Elizabeth M’Clintock was an Academy teacher in spring, 1846; sisters Mary and Julia M’Clintock taught school in 1849.  In the early 1850s, their younger brother, Willie, also attended school in Waterloo. 
 

The early 1840s brought a wave of deaths to Hunt’s family.  Brother-in-law Randolph Mount died in April 1842; wife Sarah in May 1842, of pulmonary consumption; and brother-in-law Henry Plant in 1843.  Amy Mosher appears to have become a caretaker for Hunt’s young children, Richard, Mary and Sarah.  Hunt’s marriage in March 1846 to Jane C. Master, younger sister of dear friends of the M’Clintocks, George and Catherine Master Truman, provided a mother for Hunt’s three children and a second connection to Philadelphia.  It also provided another avenue of information for rearing Hunt’s children.  The Trumans helped them find a place for son Richard in a boarding school run by William Garrigues in Morristown, NJ, from spring 1852 through spring 1853.  By 1854, Richard Hunt, Jr., was at school in Syracuse, watched over by his cousin Elizabeth and her new husband, Burroughs Phillips.  Richard, Jr.,  moved to the Illinois farm to continue his practical education sometime in 1855 or 1856.
 

The letters that Mary and Sarah Hunt wrote to their brother give intimate glimpses into daily life in the Hunt House while strengthening ties between the siblings.  Aged 12 and 11 in 1852, their weekly letters chronicled farm activities, family visits, parties, home events and school and religious attendance.  In June 1852, the family attended the Junius Yearly Meeting, sister Sarah writing that 100 carriages were present for the morning session and 60 for the afternoon session.  In September, the sisters wrote of helping the cook and housekeeper with their duties after the cook, Susan Hines, developed an infection on her hand.  They did dishes, jogged baby George’s cradle, and helped with washing clothes.  Their descriptions of sections of the house and farm assume common knowledge of them.  In the same letter describing housework, Sarah wrote that “going down cellar last night to get something to eat…my foot slipped & I fell from the top to the bottom.  I bruised my side…it is quite sore today.”  In December, 1853, Willie started going to school and moved from sleeping downstairs in the same room as his small sister Jane (possibly in the nursery) to a room upstairs.  His sister reported that he was “a very good boy he is sitting by me now reading in his book.”

 In 1852 and 1853, the sisters described school and school presentations.  Sarah, one of a class of twenty-five female students, had a speaking part in a winter presentation.  They described the weddings of cousins Mary Ann and Elizabeth M’Clintock (five year old Willie quite liked them) and family and school parties.  In January 1853, Sarah detailed the younger M’Clintocks’ outfits for a costume party, including cousin Julia’s ‘squaw’ dress, leggings, headdress and mocassins.  When George Gay fell through canal ice, they reported on searches for his body until it was found.  On occasion, they excused short or uninteresting letters when they had headaches or colds.  They informed their brother when their infant sister, Anna, died, when their father or mother was ill, and of Burroughs Phillips’ accident and sudden death in April, 1854.  The girls’ letters stop abruptly in spring, 1854.  No other letters between them and their brother are known to exist.

Other letters took up news of the Hunts’ family circle.  Cousin Elizabeth Phillips returned to her parents’ home in Waterloo after her husband’s untimely death.   Mary Ann and James Truman and their young daughter, Lizzie, moved from Philadelphia to a house a few doors east of her parents by June 1855.  Catherine and George Truman and their children began to make long visits to the Hunts and their son’s family.  In December, the M’Clintocks started to consider a move to Easton, NJ.  They moved both businesses in July 1856.

R.P. Hunt had begun to suffer from more serious illness in the summer and fall of 1856.  The summer was dry and the dust bothered his asthmatic condition, keeping him indoors.  He seemed to improve in August, but after exhausting local conventional and alternative medical options, Hunt’s brother-in-law, George Truman, M.D., moved in to care for him. Truman’s nearly daily letters to children and wife provide information about the house and its activities.  Excerpts describe a sitting room, appropriate for office consultations or care of an ailing Hunt, and separate from general family activity.
  

As Hunt’s condition worsened, family gathered around and news flew.  “So many relatives and all anxious” crowded the downstairs.  Richard Junior, arrived from the Illinois farm “grown…tall and somewhat spare yet large and athletic…in appearance.”  Lizzie Stanton visited with her two young daughters.  Hunts’ sisters came “nearly every day.”  James Truman and Isaac Mosher took shifts to help care for Hunt.  Elizabeth Phillips wrote from Easton to Elizabeth Neall Gay that Hunt had experienced paralysis and could not speak above a whisper, adding “it is not possible for him to live a great while as he is now.”
    

Hunt recovered enough for Truman to return briefly to his home in Philadelphia, but died while Truman was on his way back.  Son James Truman and Isaac Mosher met Truman at the train station to inform him.  Truman consoled the family and spoke to mourners at Hunt’s funeral the next day.  Buried from his home, Hunt was laid to rest next to his sister, Mary Quinby, in the Junius Meeting ground cemetery.  Truman reported that Hunt’s network turned out in force.  Only a quarter of the people who came to honor Hunt were able to get into the house to hear the speeches.   Nearly 40 carriage loads accompanied the family to the burial ground.  

Hunt’s death was immediately reported in the Waterloo Observer, which noted his contributions to the village of Waterloo as a builder and business leader.  He was described as possessing “a large share of strong good sense which counteracted the influences of naturally strong prejudices and a somewhat inflexible purpose.  His aims and purposes were to improve the condition of his race, and he opposed everything he deemed to have a contrary tendency, with zeal and earnestness.”
 

Truman stayed with his sister-in-law and her family as the will was read and as the family took up a new way of life.  He advised the children to maintain “their sympathies intact as it regards their own especial family circle“ and to “stand by” Jane…”as she would need all their support.”  A few days later, he wrote his wife that Jane Hunt would be busy as “Guardian and caretaker of things written under the will of Brother Richard.”  By Thanksgiving, he could report that the “family seem to have recovered their tranquility in great measure,” as each tried to “impress upon the other the necessity of maintaining a firm and composed mind.  This condition of things is the sure road to mental health.”

As George Truman wrote to his wife, Catherine, “[t]he loss of such a head to a family cannot be measured neither can it be repaired.”  Neither Jane Hunt nor Hunt’s surviving children could step into Hunt’s shoes at the center of the important regional business, economic, reform, and civic network he had fostered.
 

B.  1856-1889 Jane Hunt:  Held In Trust 

Jane Hunt had been married ten years when her husband died.  Her three step-children, aged fourteen to eighteen, and three children, aged four to nine, remained in her care.  Under terms of the will, she retained use of one third part of the real estate during her life time, as well as use of the home, personal property, and garden on the farm--provided she remained unmarried, lived on the farm homestead, and cared for her children until their marriage.
  

The terms of the will defined the family’s use of the homestead farm through 1889.  Without  R.P. Hunt’s “somewhat inflexible purpose….to improve the condition of his race…” and the network he so assiduously nurtured, the role of the Hunts and their home in regional economic, religious, civil and reform activities declined.  The year 1862 marked the beginning of the Civil War and the end of evidence of involvement in the anti-slavery movement by family members.  Between 1870 and 1878, Hunt children managed the farm and engaged in some local economic and civic activities.   In 1880, only Jane Hunt and oldest daughter Mary still resided at the homestead farm.  Through 1889, their reform activity was limited to local efforts.

R.P. Hunt’s will created a trust with broad powers to manage the care of his property and to assure that his children were well cared for and well educated.  The trustees managed Hunt’s extensive property, providing income for the widow and children while assuring that Jane Hunt retained life ownership of a third of the estate, similar to dower rights.  The trustees, Hunt’s nephew Walter Quinby and Seneca County Court Judge Sterling G. Hadley, were required by terms of the will to maintain the house and property and assure the education and maintenance of Hunt’s children until they married or left home.  Specific dates for the division of the estate insured that all would receive their equal share at Jane Hunt’s death.  Hunt stipulated that a division be made in 1859, when Richard Hunt, Jr. reached the age of twenty-one.  The will’s  stipulation that Jane Hunt retain use of one-third of the real estate through her life resulted in annual charges for expenses and disbursements of income through 1891, when a final settlement after Jane Hunt’s death in 1889 transferred property to the heirs.
    

Between 1856 and 1870, Jane Hunt provided the children with education and a home, supported by the trustees and Farm Superintendent Isaac Mosher.  Elder children Richard and Sarah married and launched adult lives while sister Mary remained at home.  Jane Hunt made changes to the house in 1858 and 1859 before partition of the estate in September 1859.  In the 1870s, Jane Hunt’s children matured.  Sons William M. and George T. Hunt took up farm management, but after George T.’s untimely death in 1878 and William M.’s marriage and move to Rochester, NY, in the 1890s, only Jane and Mary Hunt resided at the Hunt house.  Ellen Hunt and her children boarded in Waterloo.  Without active management, the farm seems to have declined in value.


1.  “…their own especial family circle”:  1856-1870   

Between 1856 and 1862, Jane Hunt learned the extent and nature of the terms of the will as she sought to provide for the education of her children.  She may have found her new responsibilities as guardian and executor challenging.  George Truman carefully reviewed her duties with her shortly after her husband’sdeath.  Several months later, Mary Ann M’Clintock Truman worried about the family:  “There is quite a change in that household…Uncle Richard gone, and the girls growing to womanhood.  I think them superior—they are both attractive and intelligent.  I wish they had a more intellectual Mother.”

Though similar provisions for a surviving widow were common in the 1850s, R.P. Hunt may have intended them to deter Jane Hunt from moving the family to a Philadelphia home near her relatives.  They certainly surprised some among the family network.  From Easton, Mary Ann M’Clintock wrote her niece Lizzie Gay that Jane “still remains on the Farm…if she…goes to housekeeping elsewhere, she forfeits her right to occupy that House…with her income if I were in her place, I would give up my claim to that and live where I wanted.”   In June 1857, Jane Hunt made a long visit to her sister, Catherine Truman, with her daughter Mary and sister-in-law Lydia Mount.  Though Mary Hunt was “anxious to get home,” Jane Hunt “appear[ed] to dread the loneliness that…will come over her when she again treads the household boundaries.”  With Richard Hunt back on the Illinois farm, Isaac Mosher managing the home farm, and the executors running the estate, Jane Hunt was free to consider her options carefully.

Jane Hunt received annual funds from the trustees for managing her household, as well as assessments for running the estate and improvements to the house in which she and her children lived.  With these funds, she could afford tuition at private schools for her children.    Truman and M’Clintock relatives returning to Philadelphia may have added to Hunt’s desire to be there.  Elizabeth M’Clintock Phillips opened a hosiery/millinery story in Philadelphia in February 1857; James and Mary M’Clintock Truman moved from Waterloo to Philadelphia in September 1858.  That same month, Jane Hunt rented a new house for six months at 12th and Arch Streets in Philadelphia.  Daughter Sarah had a job as a teacher at the Race Street Quaker school, and the younger three children were students there.  Richard, back from Illinois and not managing the home farm, also came to Philadelphia to “perhaps go into some school.”  By the end of April 1859, they were back in Waterloo, accompanied by Jane Hunt’s sister Sophia, while Sarah Hunt stayed with the Trumans.  George Truman reported that “to leave us was a trial for our Sister—her attachment to her Native City is strong while her love for the connections she leaves is abiding and warm.”
  

Though little evidence of Jane Hunt’s activities exists after 1859, living in Philadelphia during school terms increased family feeling toward Truman and M’Clintock relatives while assuring the younger children a Quaker education.  Six summer months on the home farm allowed her to retain use of house, garden, and orchard in Waterloo and attend to Hunt relatives.  Extended summer visits from Philadelphia relatives strengthened family ties to the Underhills, Mounts, and Plants near Waterloo.  In July 1859, George and Catherine Truman visited Waterloo, with George Pryor speaking to a group of forty at “Aunt Jane’s Hall” in Waterloo while attending several Quaker meetings.  On one chilly day, Truman and Jane Hunt attended a meeting while Catherine Master Truman and her daughter Cat watched “the hearth for us…with the Younglings right dutifully by Aunt Jane’s warm stove.”

As Jane Hunt found education for her children, the trustees oversaw installation of gas lighting and possibly the addition of a porch to the east façade of the house in Waterloo.  The removal of a wall dividing the parlor from a hall bedroom and centering the fireplace on the east wall may have occurred at the same time.  Living in a new house in Philadelphia may have inspired changes to the Waterloo home.  Charges to Jane Hunt’s account for pipes and light fixtures date the lighting project to March 1858, but shortly after her return from Philadelphia in April 1859, George Truman wrote to his son, “Reports from Waterloo all well, & going to look fine with their improvements.”

The partition of the estate in 1859 created six equal shares among the six children, with Jane Hunt retaining the house and use of one-third of the estate.  Shortly after the partition, Sarah Hunt moved to Belmont, Mass., where she may have been engaged as a private teacher.   According to subscription records of the National Anti-Slavery Standard, she remained there until April 1861, when she returned to Waterloo.  She also appeared in the 1860 federal census in Waterloo with her other siblings and step-mother, all possessed of significant real estate and personal estate in the form of a share of rents and interest on mortgages and bonds. Richard Hunt, Jr. worked in hardware.  Isaac Mosher, Farm Superintendent, lived nearby, as did Richard Hunt’s sisters, widows Lydia Mount and Hannah Plant.
 

Mosher made sure that the farm was productive and profitable.  The 1860 Census of Agriculture still listed the farm in Richard P. Hunt’s name.  Compared to the 1850 census, in 1860 the number of acres declined from 535 to 144.  The cash value of the farm at $100/acre was $14,400.  Including implements and animals bumped the value up to $15,175.  Some animals—a horse, a cow, a pig—and some of the garden and orchard produce were for family use.  Still, the output was impressive:  250 bushels of wheat, 600 of Indian corn, 1000 bushels of oats and 200 bushels of Irish potatoes.  Though only 6 pounds of wool were produced, 55 tons of hay were cut off fields and the farm’s cows produced enough milk for Jane to produce 300 pounds of butter.  

Waterloo seems to have became less welcoming of anti-slavery reform activity as the nation drew closer to civil war.  In August 1857, Mary Ann M’Clintock Truman wrote her cousin, Elizabeth Neall Gay, to decline to raise money for the American Anti-Slavery Society.  “It would be like olden times to be so engaged,” she wrote.  “But the truth is, the little anti-slavery that once did seem to have rooted here has nearly died out—at least as regards practical efforts….the few who are left…think it would be impossible for us to accomplish anything.”  Jane Hunt knew of this, certainly, and may have been consulted.  Although her name last appeared in the yearly proceedings of the Junius Yearly Meeting of the reforming Friends of Human Progress in 1855, letters show her attending meetings in Philadelphia and near Waterloo through 1859.  M’Clintock relatives also continued to attend the Junius meetings, keeping Jane and her family informed of reform speeches given there and petitions to state or federal government issued by the Friends of Human Progress.  The last known petition on behalf the Friends of Human Progress was issued in 1867 in support of woman suffrage.  Mary Hunt was not listed as an attendee at Friends of Human Progress meetings, but her support of woman suffrage in her own right after the Civil War is indicated by her election as one of several vice-presidents of the newly-formed New York State Woman Suffrage Association in 1869.  The state president was Martha C.  Wright.
 

In the early 1860s, Jane Hunt supported the temperance movement with membership in the State League Devoted to the Interests of Temperance and Freedom in 1862 and 1863.  Evidence of the Hunt daughters’ support of anti-slavery included Sarah Hunt’s subscription to the National Anti-Slavery Standard through 1862.  She and Mary Hunt donated money to the Standard in April 1862 as the nation entered the Civil War and again in August, 1862.  In May 1863, Sarah enthusiastically supported Elizabeth Cady Stanton’s Woman’s National Loyal League, writing “Give us a nation for whose preservation we may joyfully surrender our heart’s dearest treasure; but swear by the green graves of our slaughtered brethren, that this sacrifice shall seal the doom of every trafficker in human flesh.”
    

These strong words from the twenty-year-old daughter of a committed anti-slavery activist suggest that Hunt blood was being spilled on Civil War battlefields.  She had cause for concern.  On May 23, 1863, Sarah M. Hunt married Lyman C. Gardner, Fayetteville, N.Y. attorney, in a Quaker service in Waterloo.   In August 1863, Gardner’s name was on public lists of potential draftees.  Under a provision to commute service, Gardner may have paid a substitute.  In 1866, he was a member of a volunteer fire company, whose members were exempt from the draft.  In 1870, his name appeared in a call for drafted men of Onondaga County to convene to seek the return of commutation fees.
  

The Hunt boys may not have served as volunteers or draftees.  William and George were too young for the draft, and Richard was three days shy of the required enrollment age of twenty-five on July 1, 1863, when a draft was enforced.    Unscathed by the Civil War, Richard Hunt, Jr., had married Anna C. Draper in 1861, moving to a house on Virginia St.  He formed a company with A.R. Wheeler and James Stevenson in January, 1862, and worked in the store selling stoves, tinware, and hardware through the 1860s.  With Sarah and Lyman Gardner in Fayetteville and Richard in his own house, care of the homestead farm turned to the next generation by decade’s end.
    


2.  Leaving Waterloo: The Next Generation, 1870-1889

Family documents provide a glimpse into family use of the farm and family dispersal through the 1870s.  William M. Hunt’s 1873 journal and financial record shows that the homestead farm provided income to the family while terms of his father’s will continued to bind family members together financially.  Youngest son, George T. Hunt, died in 1878, leaving his young wife Ellen Goss Smith Hunt a widow.  Her account book, begun after his death, includes financial transactions on behalf of their two children, George and Jane, who inherited their father’s portion of the Hunt estate.  These sources, loaned to the park by Hunt descendant Peggy Van Kirk, provide the backbone for what is known about the use of the farm homestead and Hunt family relationships in the 1870s and 1880s.

In 1870, federal census takers enumerated residents at the homestead farm as Jane C. Hunt, age 57, with daughters and sons Mary, 30; farmer William, 24; Jennie, 22; and George T., 17.  One 17-year-old farm laborer, Christian Storty, also lived there.  Aunt Eliza Underhill lived next door.   Son Richard Hunt, 32, a hardware merchant, lived in the village with his wife Anna C., 27; their son Richard P. Hunt, 7; and 30-year-old domestic servant Emma Garrison.  Isaac Mosher, who had been listed as Farm Superintendent in 1860, did not provide an occupation in the 1870 census.

The information provided the census taker on August 2, 1870 included hints at the disposition of shares of the estate.  Jane Hunt had $2000 of real estate and $25,000 of personal estate.  Her son William listed $12,000 of real estate and $15,000 of personal estate.  Daughter Mary had $1500 in real estate and $10,000 in personal estate.   Jennie’s real estate, a portion of the homestead farm, was worth $14,000, and personal estate was worth $6000.   Son George also had a portion of the farm worth $16,000 and $5,00 of personal estate.  Richard Hunt’s real estate holdings were worth $3500, while his personal estate was valued at $14,000.  His wife’s separate personal estate was worth $1000.  These numbers show the youngest two children, Jennie and George, land rich and cash poor, compared to Jane C. Hunt, Richard Hunt, Mary Hunt and William M. Hunt, who held less real estate than personal wealth.

Sometime in the late 1860s, son William M. Hunt began to manage the home farm partitioned to younger siblings Jennie (Figure 5) and George.  The July 30, 1870 agricultural census listed William M. Hunt as farming three pieces totaling 133 acres, the homestead farm less a 12+ acre parcel partitioned directly to him.  Hunt reported total value of crops at $4935, with $900 in wages paid out.  The joint production of the farms included 540 bushels of wheat, 836 of Indian corn, 12 pounds of wool, 60 bushels of potatoes, 350 pounds of butter, and 45 tons of hay.   Hunt doubled wheat production over 1860 and increased Indian corn by fifty percent while dropping oats as a crop.  The value of animals slaughtered increased from sixty dollars in 1860 to $1344 in 1870.   A first time earning was $144 gained from a market garden.

William M. Hunt’s 1873 calendar and cash journal show the transfer of his direct labor on the farm to efforts to find markets for local agricultural products, including the hay from the Hunt farm.  Like his father, he reached into family networks to find buyers.  In March 1873, Hunt traveled to Philadelphia where he stayed with his uncle, George Truman.  After attending Quaker meeting on Sunday, he visit M’Clintock cousins.  The next day was spent going to various straw and hay dealers on behalf of a new business partnership, Hunt and Saleman Hay Dealers and Shippers.  By 1874, younger brother George T. Hunt ran the home farm.  William M. Hunt’s partnership was listed separately from the home farm, where he continued to live.
   
As a partner in the firm, William M. Hunt (Figure 6) bought, harvested, pressed, stored, prepared for shipment, billed and received payment for hay throughout the year.   Payment for shipped hay could lag behind cash needs.  His journal includes regular notes for short term loans on local banks and from relatives for business purposes.  This credit was necessary in a seasonal business with seasonal payment.  William Hunt also sold calves and heifers through his firm, keeping daily logs of animals promised, bought and sold in diary pages dated January 1 through January 19.  July was dedicated exclusively to harvesting and pressing hay, though crops were taken at other times of the year as well.  Hunt ran gangs of workers and teams, possibly with horses and oxen from the Hunt farm.  He was also on the lookout for new possible markets; a clipping in the journal discussed mink breeding for fur sales.   Like his father, William Hunt was a member of an agricultural society, serving as the Master for Seneca Grange No. 44 in 1879.
  

Richard P. Hunt’s 1856 will had created a general fund for income from bonds, mortgages, and sales of land, paid out by trustees Walter Quinby and Sterling G. Hadley.  Much as R.P. Hunt accounted for items transferred between himself and relatives, son William M. Hunt also noted cash or products received or paid to relatives.  In the cash accounts payables and receivables section of his diary, William Hunt entered disbursements from the fund, cash received from mother Jane C. Hunt and brother George T. Hunt in February 1873, and payment of his and his mother’s and sister’s taxes in November and December 1873.  In December, he noted that he owed his mother Jane C. Hunt six cords of wood.  The diary documents continuing financial relationships between siblings and their spouses, even if not in Waterloo: several entries in the diary are for loans to or from Lyman C. Gardner, Sarah Hunt’s husband.

The Hunts and their network employed domestic servants and agricultural labor.  Hunt’s diary documents requests from local farmers and friends for immigrant laborers from Sweden, Scotland, and Germany.  In March 1873, he traveled to Castle Garden and then to the Female Refuge and New Barracks at Ward’s Island in New York City, where New York state housed “destitute immigrants…who, though in good health, cannot find employment or are prevented from reaching their final destination from want of funds.”  On March 11, Hunt entered in his diary, “came home with 9 men gave them $10 and bound all the year and gave them their passage.” He also negotiated for a family to travel to Waterloo.  The diary lists the names of those bound to service for a year, as well as payment schedules.  Terms of service included room and board and $10/month in wages, paid half each month and the rest at the end of the year.

As the only source of its type, William M. Hunt’s diary may not accurately reflect Hunt family practices within the house, on the farm, or in the community.  It does hint that, nearly twenty years after R.P. Hunt’s death, the terms of the will bound family members together in transactions that supplied money, housing, and goods.  R.P. Hunt’s farm continued to feed and support his family, as did income from his properties, stocks and bonds.  Hunt descendants created new businesses while searching for markets for Waterloo agricultural products.  Extended Truman and M’Clintock family members and Quaker religious practice remained important.
  

Many changes came to the Hunt children between 1873 and 1880.  The Panic of 1873 and ensuing economic downturn through the 1870s affected many businesses, including those engaged in by Hunt family members.  Richard Hunt moved his family to Pennsylvania;  Jane M. (Jennie) Hunt married and moved away;  George T. Hunt married, had a son, then died in 1878.  Richard Hunt’s business partner A.R. Wheeler, 1873 president of the Village of Waterloo, died in 1874.  It appears that Richard Hunt decided to leave the village to work in the oil fields in Bradford, PA at this time, because he was not among the number of Richard P. Hunt relatives who helped created the Waterloo Historical Society in 1875, followed by the Waterloo Literary and Historical Society in 1876.  Founding trustees of the Society included Richard P. Hunt’s son, William M. Hunt, brother-in-law, Daniel S. Kendig, and nephews Walter Quinby and Richard P. Kendig.  Jane M. Hunt, Richard P. Hunt’s daughter, donated one-half of an acre of her share of the homestead farm for St. John’s Chapel in the third ward of the Village of Waterloo in 1874.  The completed chapel was the closest house of worship to the Hunt house.   Jane Hunt married William Reed Trasher that same year. 
 

 In October, 1875, George T. Hunt (Figure 7) married Ellen Goss Smith of Waterloo.  The Hunts may have moved into the Hunt house, where George, his brother William, sister Mary, and mother Jane C. Hunt lived.  The Hunts’ first child, Jane, also called Jennie, was born July 10, 1876.  George T. Hunt and his mother were in Philadelphia in December, 1877, when Jane Hunt loaned $190.00 to her son.  (A note ‘paid in full’ appears two years later in her daughter-in-law’s account book.) This entry may indicate that Jane Hunt continued to spend winter months with her Philadelphia relatives through the 1870s.  Their son was born in July 1878.  George T. Hunt died December 12, 1878.  Brother William M. Hunt assumed management of the farm, while Ellen G. Hunt moved into her grandmother’s household.  In the 1880 census, she was listed as “keeping house” for her grandmother and other Smith relatives aged 19 to 29.

As George T. Hunt’s widow, Ellen G. Hunt (Figure 8) inherited the portion of the home farm allotted to her husband.  Her cash account book, begun shortly after her husband’s death, confirms evidence from William Master Hunt’s diary that the family was tightly bound by the terms of the will.  Ellen Hunt was only twenty-three when her husband died, yet she was the guardian of children who would receive their father’s share of the Hunt estate.  Through the rest of the decade, she tracked S. G. Hadley’s allotments and charges for upkeep of the farm homestead.  In May 1879 she noted charges for “whitewashing” and “papering;” in June 1879 she recorded charges for “work on the farm house;” in December “for insurance on house and barns.”  She also noted expenses with her husband’s family:  $25 for William M. Hunt’s “trip to the islands” in August 1879 and payment to  William M. Hunt for “seed wheat and barley rootes” in January 1880. In April 1880, Lyman Gardner paid Ellen Hunt $50 while Jane C. Hunt paid for potatoes, corn and to reimburse an account that Ellen Hunt had paid for William M. Hunt.  In October 1880, Ellen Hunt received payment for potatoes and corn and pasture for Jane C. Hunt’s cow and board for two horses for two years.  In November she paid a share of taxes.  It seems that Jane C. Hunt now owed her daughter-in-law for use of the farm home.
 

Throughout this period, the Hunt family remained in contact with their extended family.  Photographs of Richard P. Hunt’s grown children, their spouses, and some of their children are found in a family collection held at Friends Historical Library, Swarthmore College.  Members of the Hunt family turned to other churches as the Junius Yearly Meeting gradually became less active, as evidenced by daughter Jane M. Hunt’s donation of land for an Episcopal chapel and an entry for pew rent in Ellen Hunt’s account book.  For daughter Mary Hunt, the 1880s marked a return to social concerns.  In 1881, she was named secretary of the Seneca County visiting committee for the State Charities Association, charged with visiting and inspecting charitable institutions supported by public funds.  As secretary, Mary Hunt had a right to vote with the general managers on issues of concern.  She continued as secretary of the Seneca County committee through 1902.

 The 1880 federal census is the last to show members of Richard P. Hunt’s immediate family in residence at the homestead farm.  Widow Jane C. Hunt, 69, lived there with daughter Mary M. Hunt, 39.  The household also included thirteen year old Rose Morgan, a servant; Irish-born Margaret Mahoney, 38; and German-born farm laborer John Walters, age 30.  Richard Hunt, Jr. lived in Foster, PA, with his wife and son; both he and his son were employed as store clerks.  Daughter Sarah M. Hunt Gardner and her family relocated to Lawrence, Kansas in 1882; where her husband Lyman C. Gardner died the following year.  S.M.H. Gardner remained in Kansas with her family through 1887.  Son William M. Hunt married Elizabeth Watson Weed in 1880 and moved to Missouri.  By 1885, they also lived in Lawrence, Kansas, where their only son, Richard Pell Hunt, was born in 1888. 

Ellen Hunt married Montgomery Whiteside on June 8, 1887 at her residence on E. Main St., possibly one of the inherited Hunt rental properties.  By then, Jane H. Trasher was in Jacksonville, Florida; her daughter Lillian was born there in 1888.  S.M.H. Gardner and family lived in Dusseldorf, Germany, from July, 1887 through October, 1888.  On her return, they went immediately to the homestead farm in Waterloo to visit the sick Jane C. Hunt.  Gardner returned to the homestead farm again in June, 1889, shortly before her mother traveled to Chicago to visit the Trashers.  Jane Hunt died at their home in December, 1889, and was buried in Maple Grove Cemetery in Waterloo.

The distribution of R.P. Hunt’s real estate finally occurred thirty-three years after his death.  The Rochester Democrat and Chronicle reported that the estate would be divided “among the children of Mr. Hunt, who died in November, 1856, although the affairs of the deceased have never been settled until the present time.” Daughter Mary M. Hunt, who had bought her brother Richard’s share, received the business blocks in downtown Waterloo.  Daughter S.M.H Gardner received a house on E. Williams and one on E. Main St.   William M. Hunt and Jane Hunt Trasher each received shares.   Daughter-in-law Ellen Hunt Whiteside’s two children, George T. and Jennie, received the homestead and farm.

C. 1890-1919:  A Family Legacy 

For Ellen Hunt Whiteside, Jane Hunt’s death resulted in her minor children’s full ownership of the Hunt homestead farm and brick farm house.  It appears that Judge S. G. Hadley continued to manage a fund of income on stocks and bonds through 1891.  In a section of her account book titled “Children’s Account 1891,” Ellen Whiteside entered funds disbursed to the children by S. G. Hadley, amounts paid in rent for the children’s house, and charges to the account for clothes, medicine, school books, and games or toys for George T., Jr., and Jennie Hunt.  As Jane C. Hunt lived in the farmstead home until 1889, the Whitesides likely lived elsewhere.
   

Montgomery Whiteside operated the farm and a brickyard on the Hunt property, perhaps as early as 1888.  Whiteside’s brickyard was in operation until his death in 1900.  His step-son, George T. Hunt, Jr., then began to manage the farm, selling parcels as needed for income.  By 1914, the farm was no longer listed as an operating farm.  George T. Hunt, Jr. sold the house and lot to Clifford L. Beare in 1919.

1. A Widow’s Portion:  Ellen Smith Hunt Whiteside 1890-1900 

Jane Hunt’s death resulted in changes for the Hunt House.  Within a few months of her mother’s interment, Mary M. Hunt moved to a small house on E. Williams Street owned by her sister, Sarah.  No federal census exists for 1890, but Ellen Hunt Whiteside’s account book  indicates that she and her family did not immediately move to the house her children now owned.  The “Children’s Account” in her account book lists monthly rents received from two different tenants at “the brick house.”  Each tenant separately rented the front or back portion of the house between April 1890 and March 1891.  The account book also shows amounts distributed by Sterling G. Hadley after transfer of the real estate, an indication that he continued to manage income from stocks and bonds.  Ellen Hunt Whiteside gave this income to Montgomery Whiteside.  Her account book lists no further renters after 1891, perhaps because the Whitesides had moved to the farmstead home. 

With the homestead farm firmly in the Whitesides’ hands, Montgomery Whiteside energetically pursued farming and brick-making.  At the beginning of the 1891 season, the Auburn Bulletin noted that he had “begun operations in brick making, and it look [sic] like brisk business down at his yard.”  A few years later, the Rochester Democrat and Chronicle reported, ““Montgomery Whiteside’s brickyard at Waterloo will be started on a contract of 300,000 bricks for John Van [R]iper.”   

The Whitesides also entertained:  in February 1896, the “Onewah Whist Club” met at the former Hunt house.  Although there is little evidence of visits from Ellen Whiteside’s Hunt in-laws, in October 1896, she allowed their home to be used for a family funeral.  Richard Hunt, Jr., 58, who had lived in Bradford, PA for more than twenty years, was buried from the house.  He left a widow and son, Pell Hunt.

With a comfortable home and a productive farm and brick yard, the Whitesides appear to have done well for themselves.  With no children of their own marriage, they reared George T. and Jennie in the Hunt home.  There is evidence that the long-term management of Hunt assets by Judge Sterling G. Hadley resulted in actual privation for some Hunt family members in the 1890s.  William M. Hunt worked the roofing trade in Kansas in the 1880s; after his mother’s death he assigned his inheritance to his wife.  They moved to Rochester sometime in the 1890s, where he manufactured radiators throughout most of the 1890s.  He was president of the Rochester Radiator Company until his death.
 In 1890, Waterloo lawyer John E. Richardson sued on behalf of his earlier creditors, who won a judgment against Elizabeth W. Hunt and Judge Hadley.  In April, 1891, the New York Supreme Court ordered all inherited assets to be disposed of and the entirety of William M. Hunt’s share paid to his creditors.  William M. Hunt died in 1903 and was buried in Waterloo’s Maple Grove Cemetery.  Sarah M.H. Gardner turned to her past to make money for her family.  In 1894, she published  Quaker Idyls, a set of thinly disguised autobiographical sketches of her reforming Quaker family.  A novel, The Fortunes of Margaret Weld, traced the life of an educated woman whose family fortune is lost.  In 1907, S.M.H. Gardner sold the house in which her unmarried sister Mary lived.  In 1915, she received a patent for a gas-powered toaster that could be used to heat water and make toast—a useful device for single women living in boarding houses.   Jane Trasher was the head of her household in Jacksonville, Florida by 1900.  In 1905, Mary M. Hunt asked nephew Pell Hunt to assist with family tombstones, advise on an oil investment, and help family members financially.  He agreed to send tombstones, but advised her against the investment and declined to help. “I think if Judge Hadley had not spent the Heirs money you would have had more to have lived on but I have made enough to keep me by hard work and don’t ever expect to ask my family for help,” he wrote.  This context helps to explain the dispersal of Richard P. Hunt’s descendants from Waterloo and of his assets to owners outside the family as the homestead farm was sold, piece by piece, over the following two decades.  
 
Selling the Farm: George T. Hunt, Jr. 1900-1919 
Montgomery S. Whiteside died at age 58 in February 1900, leaving Ellen Goss Smith Hunt Whiteside a two-time widow at age 45.  Whiteside had lived in Waterloo for twelve years and had successfully established himself as a farmer and brickmaker on the Hunt farm.  Later that year, the federal census taker listed Ellen Whiteside as head of household with George T. Hunt, Jr., 21; and Jennie, 23; residing at the homestead farm.    

In the ensuing two decades, George T. Hunt took on farm management.  Advertisements for the brickyard do not appear after Montgomery Whiteside’s death; however something is known about use of the property through George T. Hunt’s listing of farm production in his mother’s account book.  Farm accounts dated 1902-1905 detailed calves, heifers, cows, pigs and sheep bought, sold, or slaughtered as well as hay, corn, potatoes, eggs and butter sold.  Hunt paid for farm labor as well as hiring out himself and his team for work harvesting or hauling.   The accounts reflect a meager income and hard labor for Hunt, and after 1903, his wife Bertha Emerick Hunt (Figure 9) and their growing family.  The 1910 federal census showed George T. Hunt as a farmer living on his own farm with his wife, 5-year-old daughter, 3-year-old son, (Figure 10) and 56-year-old mother, but a 1914 farm directory for Seneca County did not include a listing for George T. Hunt’s farm at all. 

Hunt’s only asset was land.  The two decades between 1900 and 1919 marked the transfer of ownership of much of Richard P. Hunt’s real estate from his descendants to others.  In 1900, after Whiteside’s death, the children and their mother sold lands between the Cayuga-Seneca Canal and Main Street, leaving 62 acres jointly owned.  In 1908, Jennie and her mother sold their interest in the farm and home to George T. Hunt, Jr.  In 1909, he sold lots east of the Hunt House; in 1914, lots along E. Main Street; in 1915, most of the land to the north and east of the house, leaving 33.66 acres and the home.  Between 1908 and 1915, the value of the house and land dropped from $4,200 to $1,500.  Land sales continued into the 1920s.  In addition to selling land, George T. Hunt seems to have supported his family with odd jobs around the community.  
In February, 1917, George T. and Bertha Hunt’s infant daughter Sarah Curtiss Hunt died in the home.  The funeral was held in the house.  Shortly after this tragic loss, George T. Hunt sold the house and lot to Clifford L. Beare.  George Hunt continued to live next door, moving at some point to 229 E. Main St.  In 1931, he was appointed a police officer for Waterloo, with duties including serving summonses, assisting in investigations, and disposing of dogs.  His earnings, listed in the family account book, were $54.10 in 1938.  He died that year at age 60, leaving his wife, Bertha, daughter Helen, and sons Richard, Carroll and Robert of Waterloo.  Bertha Hunt died in 1959.

II.
A Status Symbol, 1919-1944 
The Hunt House and grounds experienced significant alteration in the period between 1919 and 1944.  Clifford L. Beare removed the north and west wings and the east veranda and replaced the modest entrance with an imposing new portico featuring four Doric columns in the Colonial Revival style popular as the 1926 sesquicentennial of the nation’s birth approached.  He purchased additional land to increase the lot size from a few acres to a little more than five.  While living in the house, Beare served as Superintendent of Repairs of the Cayuga and Seneca Canal, 1919-1921, and as defense attorney for the Village of Waterloo, 1921-1924.  He maintained a private civil practice as well.  His involvement in county and state Democratic Party activities predated his arrival in the Hunt House and continued during his residency.  During Beare’s tenure, his son was born and grew to early teens.  Beare also managed or owned Seneca Valley Kennels on the property, breeding German Great Danes.  In 1930, Beare left Waterloo for Geneva.  Roy A. Brewster of Geneva, about whom little is known, built three small tourist cottages behind the house, possibly trying to profit by the house’s striking façade and traffic on New York State Route 20. 

A. Attorney Clifford L. Beare and Seneca Valley Kennels, 
1919-1930 
When Clifford L. Beare, (Figure 11) great-grandson of Waterloo’s founder Samuel Bear, purchased the Hunt House from George T. Hunt and his sister Jennie Hunt Koeltz in 1919, his prospects were bright.  Lawyer, veteran, and rising star in the state Democratic party, Beare was about to be announced as Superintendent of the Cayuga- Seneca Canal, replacing George A. Dobson of Seneca Falls.  This patronage position recognized Beare’s efforts as a Democratic Party functionary in Seneca County in the recent gubernatorial election, the first of Governor Al Smith’s four terms as New York State governor.  Beare, age 42 in the 1920 census, may have been looking for a home for himself and his new bride, Dorothy Cornell Beare, twenty years his junior.  Or he may have been ready to plant himself firmly on the Waterloo scene.  Between 1920 and 1930, Beare’s activities brought visibility to his home and his career.

Born in Junius in 1878 to Edward A. and Eliza Beare, Clifford L. Beare graduated from Yale University in 1898 in time to enlist in and serve in the Spanish-American War.   Trained as a lawyer, he was a member of the Junius Grange and active in Junius affairs.  In 1900, he stumped for presidential candidate William Jennings Bryan, gaining a reputation as a fiery and effective speaker.  He was the county delegate to the New York State Democratic Convention in 1902, and in 1904 spoke on behalf of Democratic candidates before growing crowds.  He opposed the construction of the New York State Barge Canal, calling for a referendum that would allow New York State citizens to vote for or against the canal.

In 1904, Beare ran as the Democratic candidate for Assembly from Seneca County.  In this election, he brought his critical eye to the Cayuga and Seneca Canal, claiming that the local supervisor was a hireling of the Republican Assembly member and that payroll swelled by forty-five employees during the Assembly campaign alone.  He promised to work to defeat the expansion of the canal to “give us instead the money in school houses and good roads.”  He lost the Assembly seat by eighty votes to William J. Maier of Seneca Falls.

Beare continued to be active in the Democratic Party at the local and state level.  In 1905, the “lively young Junius politician” and his supporters, termed the “Beare crowd,” successfully wrested control of the county Democratic party from C.L. Becker of Waterloo.  Beare served as chairperson of the county committee on contested seats and represented the county at the state convention.  Most importantly, he again lost his second bid as candidate for the New York State Assembly against William J. Maier, this time by 810 votes.
  
By 1907, Beare was living and working as a lawyer in New York City while keeping his farm in Junius and an eye on local politics.  His continued involvement in the state Democratic party was reported in the local press in 1912, when he participated in factional disputes within the party.  The local press also reported his successful suit to win damages for a client against a book distributor in 1912 before the U.S. Circuit Court.

By 1915, still active in the NYS Democratic party, Beare returned to Waterloo.  As a member of the South Waterloo Citizen’s Committee with Charles A. Genung, Beare argued before the Village Board of Trustees that a New York State road project would threaten the large park south of the canal.  Beare accompanied members of the Village of Waterloo Board of Trustees to Syracuse and Albany to argue for a change in plans.  Beare had developed the legal expertise and contacts to be effective in representing Waterloo to state departments.

In December, 1916, Beare left for a sixth-month recreational trip from New York City to Venezuela, Jamaica and Colombia.  His passport listed his residence as Waterloo and his profession as Attorney at law.  It is unclear whether Beare was actually living in Waterloo.  In March 1918, the Lyons, NY, newspaper reported that “for a number of years” Beare had been “a successful New York lawyer,” but had he had recently accepted a commission as a major in the U.S. Army and entered into service at Charleston, SC.
  
By 1918, Beare had left the Army and was consecutively employed by Air Nitrate Company at two plants producing weapons grade chemicals for the armed forces, first in Nitro, WV and then in Muscle Shoals, AL.  As the supervisor of law and order, Beare was responsible for assuring public safety, plant safety, and productive labor on the part of the thousands of workers at each plant.  Beare was brought in “to work on the fear aspect of a man” by using plain clothes detectives to report on workers’ hours and activities.  He was reassigned to Muscle Shoals, working there from July 1918 through September 1918, at a handsome annual salary of $6,000.
 
Beare appears to have retained adequate funds from this work to purchase and remodel a large house.  In July 1919, a local newspaper reported that “W.B. Lawrence has the contract to remodel the big brick house in East Main Street, recently purchased by Major Clifford Beare.”  Lawrence, whose father had also been a builder and contractor, was a member of the Masonic Order, brother-in-law of C.L. Becker, and had held multiple contracts to remodel houses and public buildings in Waterloo.  He served on Waterloo’s building committee, and his wooden door and sash factory supplied the local building trade.  Changes to Beare’s new house included demolishing the west and north wings and the east veranda, building a new entry portico, widening the parlor entrance, and widening and installing French doors in the dining room doorway.  Interior columns leading into the parlor echoed the front portico theme in the Colonial Revival style.  Doors in the Hunt House that appear to have materials or methods post-dating the 1828 construction may have come from the Lawrence shop during the 1919 remodel.  In addition to making and repairing doors, Lawrence specialized in making French doors from existing panel doors.

An attorney in private practice according to the 1920 census, Beare was appointed Canal Supervisor a few weeks after purchasing the house and served through 1919 and 1920.  Under his tenure, the mouth of the Cayuga and Seneca Canal was surveyed for abandonment and nearly $900,000 was spent on capital improvements.  Beare was also appointed public defender and acted as a civil attorney in cases in Waterloo and Seneca Falls involving gambling, possession or sale of liquor and damages for injury in a car accident.  In 1923, the Village Board set Beare’s annual salary at $500.

In 1923, Beare helped arrange lighting and was in charge of a flotilla on Van Cleef Lake in Seneca Falls during celebrations of the 75th anniversary of the First Women’s Rights Convention.  His wife, Dorothy C. Beare, did not support the National Woman’s Party efforts to celebrate the event.  The local paper reported that she hung up on a telephone request for a viewing of the home from Mrs. O.H.P. Belmont, Miss Alice Paul, and Miss Anita L. Pollitzer from the National Woman’s Party.  When they arrived, they “found six Great Dane dogs locked in the historic house and…had to content themselves with a view of the exterior from a distance.”

Beare’s Democratic party activities became a matter of public testimony in early July 1923 when charges of misconduct against Sherriff Burt E. Smalley were heard in Waterloo.  A former Undersheriff, Charles A. Long, accused Smalley of hiring out prisoners, letting prisoners go out unsupervised, keeping alcohol, having prisoners repair private vehicles and other misconduct.   In testimony, Democratic party members stated that Beare had told them as early as November 1921 that Smalley would be removed.  Smalley claimed that the charges were a conspiracy between Long and Beare.   In November, after hearings before a special commissioner, New York State Governor Al Smith dismissed all charges.

Beare spent much of the rest of 1923 defending Nettie Case Taylor, charged in the murder of her husband.   Regional newspaper coverage quoted Taylor’s six minor children as witnesses against her as well as Beare’s questions to them and to her.  In the courtroom, it was shown that the alcoholic husband was abusive to Taylor and her children.  Taylor was acquitted on the grounds of self-defense on December 22, 1923.  Beare congratulated her and moved for her immediate release on receipt of the verdict, saying to Taylor, “I promised you I would have you home for Christmas.”   He continued to serve as the defense attorney in Waterloo Court through 1926.  Typical of the cases he represented was dismissal of assault charges and a reduced sentence for receiving stolen goods for two defendants.

Beare continued to be active in Democratic Party politics.  In 1924, he was the sole representative from Seneca County to the Democratic conference for the Thirty-Sixth Congressional District encompassing Yates, Cayuga, Seneca, Ontario and Wayne Counties.  The conference chose Thomas Mott Osborne, Martha Coffin Wright’s grandson, as delegate to the Democratic National Convention.
  

While he continued to represent defendants, Beare gave increasing attention to raising, showing, and selling Great Danes.  He installed a 220’ fence between his property and the adjoining George T. Hunt property, and successfully sued Hunt for construction costs.  Having entered into business with Frank X. Burke of Scranton, Beare’s newly-enclosed property residence became the Seneca Valley Kennels.  In 1927, local papers reported the sale of four puppies from the kennels, “located just outside the Village,” to Harold Lloyd, the film star and comedian most famous for dangling from a clock above a busy street in Safety Last (1923).   Beare, termed a “well known attorney and dog fancier,” had imported a stud from a German line of Great Danes, Falko von Schloss Allstedt.  The Geneva Daily Times reported visitors from many well-known Great Dane owners in 1927.
  
An extended trip to Germany, ending with a return to New York City in early November, 1928, may have been to purchase more dogs.  While documentation is missing, Beare’s ship departed from Hamburg, the port closest to Schloss Allstedt, Germany.  Beare purchased additional land in April 1929, bringing his total acreage to 5 acres.  Perhaps he intended to build an outdoor kennel or to expand his sales of Great Danes.  In July 1929, Beare and Burke advertised their dogs in Country Life magazine.  In January 1930, Col. Jacob Ruppert, New York Yankees owner, purchased a dog from them.
 
Beare seems to have suffered a sudden reverse of fortune after January 1930.  Whether as a result of the stock market crash in October 1929 or other factors, the 1930 federal census lists his farm as abandoned and no other occupation given.  In July 1930, reports circulated in local papers that the home would be sold to members of the National Woman’s Party as a shrine. Although national and state women’s rights leaders expressed interest, with Burt E. Smalley’s real estate company as agent, the property sold to Mary A. and Charles B. Smith on July 23, 1930.  They conveyed it to Roy A.  Brewster, on August 22, 1930.
 
Beare returned to Europe in 1932, giving the home of two aged female second cousins in Geneva as his address, while his wife and son lived in Brookline, Mass.  Beare was again in the news in 1934 after his cousins died, leaving him as their primary heir.  Challenges to the will were dismissed.  Beare practiced law in Geneva until his death in 1936 and was buried in the South Lyons Cemetery with other members of his family.

Between 1919 and 1930, Clifford L. Beare removed the wings of the Hunt house, remodeled the remaining exterior and interior, gained property to increase the lot size to 5 1/4 acres, and installed 220’ of fence line bordering the George T. Hunt property to the east.  He used the much diminished house as a residence for himself, his wife Dorothy and their son Robert L., aged 10 in 1930, and possibly to house Great Danes.

B. Roy A. Brewster Cottages, 1930-1944 
The son of Frank L. and Georgiana Hancock Brewster, Roy A. Brewster, was 45 and employed as a salesman for a bakery when he purchased the former Hunt House from Mr. and Mrs. Charles B. Smith of Geneva.  His grandfather, George F. Hancock, a great-grandson of John P. Hancock, lived in Clyde and Junius until his death in 1917.  The 1930 federal census listed Brewster, his wife Agnes E. (Green) Brewster, and his 70-year-old mother living together in Geneva.  Roy Brewster’s aunts, Mrs. Jennie Story and Mrs. Mary S. Burch, lived nearby.  Agnes E. Brewster’s parents had passed away when she came to the house, but her large family included brothers and sisters in Auburn, Genoa, Union Springs and Harrisburg, PA.  In November 1931, the Brewsters purchased additional property from Charles B. and Mary A. Smith.

By comparison to Clifford L. Beare, Roy Brewster lived a quiet life after moving to the house in 1930.  No mention of his activities was found in local press during his residency.  However, his aunts and mother were regularly mentioned in the personal sections of local papers.  In 1932, Georgiana Brewster spent a few days with Miss Martha Dunham, Waterloo; in 1935 she visited Mrs. Walter Lundy in Marengo/Junius.  In 1936, she visited her sister in Seneca Falls, underwent an operation in Geneva and was released to the home of Mrs. Walter Lundy, Junius.
  

Roy and Agnes Brewster entertained Mrs. Brewster, Sr., for several days in December 1937.  Her sister, Mary S. Burch, who had moved to the Johnson Ladies’ Home in Seneca Falls several years before, died on December 19 of that year and was buried in Maple Grove Cemetery, Waterloo.  Georgiana Brewster stayed with Roy and Agnes Brewster for several days in November 1940 and August 1942, returning each time to live with Mr. and Mrs. Walter Lundy in Junius.  Her sister, Mrs. Jennie Story, died in 1941.

While the Brewsters owned the house, three small cottages were built behind the house by 1939.  The purpose for the cottages remains undocumented; they may certainly have been for the tourist trade along the busy NY Route 20.  They may also have served as lodging for visits from extended family on both sides of the family, or possibly as a mother-in-law get away for Agnes E. Brewster or a shop or study for Roy A. Brewster.  In addition, in the 1920s or 1930s a niche was cut next to the north entry to the house, into the then pantry, possibly for delivery of milk or other household items.

Roy A. Brewster sold his house to Irving Greenwood in 1944.  It is possible that the Brewsters had vacated before that time, as Greenwood’s September 1944 snapshots of the house showed the rear, sides, and much of the front of the building, including some second story windows, covered in ivy up to the gutters.  Brewster moved to a home at 210 Jay Street in Geneva.  No obituary or divorce decree has been found for Agnes E. Brewster, but by 1949, Roy A. Brewster had married Marguerite H. Wightman of Trumansburg.  His mother lived with them.  Georgiana Brewster died in 1952; her son Roy in 1961; and Marguerite in 1964.

III.  A Second Wave of New York Civic-Minded Industrialists:  the Greenwood-Olmstead Years, 1944-1999

Irving and Marie Greenwood, and their daughter and son-in-law Joan and Thomas Olmstead, cared for the property at 401 E. Main Street for fifty-five years.  They created and maintained a home to provide a setting for family and social entertaining as they became Waterloo business and community leaders.  Aware of the building’s historical importance, the Greenwoods and Olmsteads retained original finishes and trims of windows and doorways when updating the home for personal and social uses.  In many ways, the Greenwoods and Olmsteads continued the traditions of Richard P. and Jane Hunt in their care for their home, their extended family, and their community.  That so much historic fabric from the 1848 period remains is due to the long tenure and careful stewardship of the Hunt and Greenwood/Olmstead families.    

The Greenwoods and Olmsteads made changes in their home to support their family and their growing stature in the community, with major remodels in 1948-49, 1954, 1960, 1977 and 1994.  The changes occurred as funds allowed, often coinciding with or preceded important events in the Greenwoods’ family or social lives.  On arrival the Greenwoods updated the electrical system, installed closets with louvered doors, and within a year had replaced the furnace.  In 1948, work was done in the dining room and a trap door to the cellar possibly closed off;  ca. 1949, a new bathroom was carved out of the pantry and possibly stairs built to the cellar.  A new bathroom was installed in the second story.  The Greenwoods repapered center halls on both floors and the second story bathroom and one upstairs room.  In 1954, they demolished a long low building behind the house and three bay cinderblock garage.   A rear addition ca. 1960 provided an entertaining space near a new in-ground pool.  In 1977, the Olmsteads took possession and remodeled, closing off the center hall for an enlarged bathroom, adding a bedroom in the 1960 addition, and papering.  A new floor was laid in the dining room and adjoining kitchen was remodeled in the early 1990s.

The Greenwoods used their house and grounds in ways that echoed Richard P. Hunt’s residency 100 years earlier.  They surrounded themselves with relatives, albeit it on a smaller scale than R.P. Hunt.  While Hunt’s sisters and brothers-in-law had their own farms, Greenwood relatives received portions of the 5 ¼ acre lot.  The Greenwoods’ nephew, Leland C. Henry, built a house to the rear of the property for his wife and family; he later deeded the house to their daughter Karen and her husband James Young.  A portion of the property was partitioned for the grounds of Taylor-Brown Memorial Hospital.  

The Greenwoods and Olmsteads also entertained socially and within the growing family.  Family photographs show events in the remodeled dining room, north addition, and living room/ parlor.  As it had been for Richard P. and Jane Hunt, the home was a center of family, social, and business activity.

A.  Irving and Marie Greenwood:  Civic Leaders, 1944-1976
Irving and Marie Greenwood relocated their two young daughters, Joan and Doris, and their food distribution and food canning business from Brooklyn, NY in August 1944.  Greenwood was president; his brother Leonard, who also moved with his family to Waterloo, was secretary and treasurer of the company.  A sideline to an existing wholesale food distributing company, Home Style Canned Foods needed more production space and closer access to crops.  In 1942, Greenwood and his partners bought property in Waterloo, adding more land and a warehouse by 1946.  The newly remodeled and equipped factory called Home Style Canned Foods shipped 300,000 cases of vegetables and employed 100 people during its short canning season, according to a 1948 Waterloo Observer article.   Although hampered by a post WWII shortage of glass and metal containers, Home Style expanded its operations again that year.

Good relations with neighbors, local businesses and community organizations, and the Village and Town of Waterloo were essential to run and grow Home Style Canning/Greenwood Foods.  The Greenwoods moved to establish themselves as key players in community life within five years of their arrival.  By June 1945, Irving Greenwood  (Figure 12) was an active member of Waterloo’s Rotary Club.  A few months later, he attended and spoke before a village board meeting in favor of ash collection to “make the town cleaner and better looking.”  The Greenwoods joined St. Paul’s Episcopal Church and later the St. Paul’s Couples Club in 1946.  By December 1948, he had served as the President of the Waterloo Chamber of Commerce, Director and 2nd Vice-President of the Waterloo Rotary Club, Chairman of the local Boy Scout fund-raising campaign, and on the executive board of the Finger Lakes Council of Boy Scouts.
  

Irving Greenwood ran for mayor of Waterloo in February 1949 as a candidate for the Democratic Party.  He and two fellow Democrats were elected to the offices of Mayor and Village Trustee, the first Democratic success in fourteen years.    At about the same time, the Greenwoods replaced the pantry off the kitchen with a new bathroom opening off the center hall and added a bathroom at the top of the stairs.  They repapered the first- and second-story halls in a fern design, and may have removed a wall to enlarge the living room at the same time.  Marie Greenwood’s activities (Figure 13) in the Seneca County Democratic Women’s Association began to be reported in the news: in March 1949, she co-chaired the arrangement committee for the annual County Democratic Dinner.  By April, Waterloo’s new government was in place.  After two years in office, the Village government instituted parallel parking and meters downtown, gained grants for the new Youth Center, acquired an abandoned section of the old Cayuga Seneca Canal to fill as a parking lot, and established a new zoning plan.  Meanwhile, Greenwood continued to build his business and the community.  He was the president of the Waterloo Rotary Club in 1950, chaired the Industrial Committee, and was on the Board of the Chamber of Commerce.  Nominated for re-election as mayor in 1951, Greenwood lost by only 49 votes.

Throughout the 1950s, the Greenwoods remained active in the community, in the Democratic party, and in business and professional associations.   As their influence grew, they began to have a wider reach into county politics.  Irving Greenwood stayed active in the Waterloo Chamber of Commerce and Waterloo Rotary, serving as a director or on various committees.  He was appointed to the board of directors of the Little League, chaired a group to set up a Community Chest, raised funds for, donated land to, and served on the executive committee of the new Taylor-Brown Memorial Hospital, worked on and was appointed president of the Seneca County United Fund, was a director of First National Bank of Waterloo and won election to the school board while a new high school was being built.  Marie Greenwood participated in New York State Women’s Association bowling competitions, hosted two Fresh Air Fund children at her home, and judged Halloween costumes in 1953.  She was “capped for service” in the local Red Cross chapter and was a member of the hospital auxiliary.

Having been active for many years in Democratic affairs, Irving Greenwood ran for, and was selected as, Democratic County Chairman in 1953.  He was one of three delegates to the state convention in 1954; attended the Governor’s dinner in Albany in 1957; and attended the Democratic National Convention as an alternate delegate from the 36th Congressional District in 1960.
  

Greenwood’s business grew as well.  He represented it to the Village Board to request an equitable assessment of his property in comparison to others in the Village in 1952; to protest water rate hikes in 1953; and to offer to sell Watkins Island to the Village for a dump in 1958 to replace one in the vicinity of his home.  His company sponsored the local baseball team.  In 1953, he was elected to the Board of the Directors of the New York State Canners and Freezers Association; the Greenwoods also attended annual meetings of the National Canners Association.  In 1955, Home Style Canning became Greenwood Foods, Inc., with brother Leonard as Secretary-Treasurer.  Greenwood made annual trips across the country, opening new markets and finding new sources of produce.  By 1957, newspapers reported that Greenwood had 65 warehouses across the country to store and distribute canned and pickled products.

As the Greenwoods gained stature in the community, they provided a home to their daughter and son-in-law and introduced them to community service.  Thomas H. Olmstead, Seneca Falls native and Hobart College graduate, joined Home Style Canning in 1952.  He was promoted to Director of Purchasing and Advertising in 1957 and named Vice-President in 1958.  In 1957, he managed the expansion of the factory with a 14,760 square foot warehouse.  Irving Greenwood announced more plans to expand in 1958; Greenwood Foods was reaching into markets throughout the U.S. and Canada.   In 1960, Olmstead was named 1st vice president of this growing business, Marie Greenwood as 2nd vice-president, and Leonard Greenwood continuing as secretary-treasurer.

Olmstead’s rise at Greenwood Foods accompanied his integration into the Greenwood family.  He and Joan Greenwood married in June 1953 (Figure 14) before her entered military service in SC.  In 1955, the Olmsteads and their infant daughter Robin returned to the area, moving into the Greenwood home.  More renovating occurred, including papering and laying black and white tile in the lower hallway.  A long low building was demolished in the back yard and a three bay garage constructed.  In 1957, the Greenwoods transferred a portion of their lot east of the house to the Olmsteads for a home at 403 E. Main St.   Around 1959, the Greenwoods installed a picture window and closed the north door to the living room.  In 1960, they installed a backyard Olympic-sized swimming pool and added a sun room and indoor barbecue pit to the north side of their home.  These features oriented living away from the front door and toward the side door and connecting walkway between their home and the Olmstead home.  As the Olmstead’s daughters, Robin and Christy grew through the 1950s to the 1970s, the pool and sunroom became important family gathering areas.
    

By 1956, Joan and Thomas Olmstead had begun to appear in the newspapers as members in their own right of the charities and community organizations in which the Greenwoods were so prominent.  Thomas Olmstead attended the organizational meeting of a Junior Chamber of Commerce of Waterloo in 1956.  In 1959, he chaired the Chamber of Commerce membership committee, joined the board of directors, and was named Chamber vice-president.  In 1960, he was named president.  Meanwhile Joan Olmstead was active in the Waterloo Hospital Guild as her mother had been; Marie Greenwood continued to volunteer with the Red Cross.

At the peak of growth, Irving Greenwood and his partners sold Greenwood Foods to Borden, Inc. in July 1961.  The local press reported that the company would remain a separate division of Borden, Inc., with Greenwood as president and Olmstead as vice-president.   Greenwood and Olmstead gave the Rotary Club a tour of a new processing plant in October 1961.  Much of the coverage of Greenwood Foods through the 1960s tracked its place within the corporations that acquired an interest in it.  In January 1967, Irving Greenwood retired, leaving Olmstead as president.  In October, Borden combined Greenwood Foods with Comstock Foods in one division, with Olmstead as executive vice-president.  In February, 1968, he was named president of the division and to the board of Borden, Inc.  In 1972, he became general manager of Lohmann Foods in Gorham, NY, in nearby Wayne County.
  


Thomas Olmstead was active in the community, serving as president of the Waterloo Chamber of Commerce in 1960 and Rotary president in 1963.  He raised funds for the proposed Eisenhower College in 1964.  He ran unsuccessfully for school board in 1966 and was a canvasser for St. Paul Episcopal Church’s annual fundraising campaign in 1970.  Joan Olmstead volunteered for the Red Cross and secured donations for the Taylor-Brown Memorial Hospital Auxiliary auction.  She assisted her mother in staging a celebration of the 120th anniversary of the Seneca Falls First Women’s Rights Convention through a reenactment of the 1848 gathering of women at the Greenwood Home on July 13, 1968.  She was elected founding chairman of the charter board of the Seneca County Players, established in 1972.

As the Olmsteads took their place in the community, Irving Greenwood continued to serve as president of or on the board of Taylor-Brown Memorial Hospital from 1959 to 1965.  He was, a major player in fundraising for Seneca County’s United Fund through 1971, and on the President’s Circle of Eisenhower College between 1971 and 1973.   He remained active in the Democratic Party, being one of the first in Seneca County to sign a petition in support of the Hatfield-McGovern amendment to end the war in Viet Nam in 1970.
  

Irving Greenwood died in April 1973, his contributions to business and community chronicled in local papers.  A resolution adopted by the President’s Council of Eisenhower College called him a “steadfast and purposeful force in the business and social community of Seneca County and the State of New York…[who] with all modesty…was devoted to the advancement of his home community.”  Taylor-Brown Memorial Hospital dedicated its 1974 annual report to his memory.  Marie Greenwood continued to reside at 401 E. Main St.
  

Between 1973 and 1976, the Olmsteads stepped into roles the Greenwoods had occupied.  In October 1973, Thomas and Joan Olmstead hosted Fresh Air Fund children, a Waterloo Rotary project, as the Greenwoods had in 1953.   In November 1973, Marie Greenwood and Joan Olmstead were among those honored for fifteen years of service to the Taylor-Brown hospital auxiliary.  In 1975, Thomas Olmstead was elected as a director of the Associated New York State Food Processors, Inc., the successor of the New York State Canners and Freezers Association for which Greenwood had served as director in 1953.  In 1976, Marie Greenwood conveyed the house and grounds at 401 E. Main St. to her daughter and son-in-law, who sold their home at 403 E. Main St. to Walter and Roberta Roby in October 1977.

Between 1944 and 1976, the Greenwoods had updated the furnace and electrical system, installed closets, replaced a pantry with a half-bath in the first story, repapered and added an upstairs bath in 1949-1950, added a picture window to the north wall of the living room, and attached a sun room to the north side of the house.  They transferred property to relatives and to the hospital, and created a revitalized 401 E. Main St. that served as the home of acknowledged community leaders.
     

B.  Thomas and Joan Greenwood Olmstead:  Continuing the Tradition, 1977-1999

Within a year of ownership, Thomas and Joan Olmstead completed an extensive renovation of the house in 1977, closing off the north end of the first story hall to accommodate a full bathroom; creating a bedroom for their daughter Christy, a nursing student, in a portion of the north addition; installing gliding stairs on the main staircase to allow for Mrs. Greenwood’s decreasing mobility; and installing large cupboards in the dining room and southwest bedroom.  New gypsum board was installed before wallpapering throughout the house.  The Olmsteads installed new flooring and carpeting as well.  The sunroom bedroom was removed after Christie moved away ca. 1982.

During the Greenwood residency, the neighborhood had changed.  Irving Greenwood appeared before the village board in the 1950s asking that a dump be moved, and joined neighbors in a complaint in March 1963 against a neighboring gas station violating zoning rules.  In October 1977, Olmstead complained to the village board when a used car lot and auto junk yard began operating across the street from his house, in violation of the area’s residential zoning.  In April 1979, he spoke on behalf of several families to request a gas station, car dealer and garage be “stopped forever” from operating.  Possibly to block the view from the house, the Olmsteads installed plantings between the road and the front door about this time.  The private backyard was the setting for daughter Robin Olmstead and Lawrence Cain’s 1981 wedding.
 

Throughout the 1980s, the Olmsteads (Figure 15) continued in community service.  Thomas Olmstead was elected to a three-year term on the Taylor-Brown Memorial Hospital Board from 1981-1984, and to the board of Norstar Bank in 1988.  Nominated by the county Democratic Party, Joan Olmstead ran for a Town of Waterloo assessor slot in 1983 and was defeated.  She served as a mediation-arbitration panelist for the Unified Court System, receiving training in 1987.  She continued to represent Waterloo at local golf tournaments, competing and placing in 1985, 1987 and 1988.
    

Thomas Olmstead remained at the helm of Lohmann Foods in Gorham through a period of rapid change in ownership.  Olmstead continued efforts to improve the plant facility and expand jobs, but by the late 1970s, it was no longer a Borden company.  In 1979, Akzona Inc. of Ashville, NC sold the business to Parodi Industries of Scranton, PA.  In 1987, Aunt Nellie’s Farm Kitchen of Clyman, Wisconsin, purchased the company, assuring workers that no changes would be made to operations or personnel.  In early 1989, Aunt Nellie’s decided to close the aging plant and move jobs to its Clyman location.
  

The 1980s brought renewed interest to the former Hunt house as a historic site.  The home was surveyed as part of a women’s rights history sites theme study in 1979 and included in legislation creating Women’s Rights National Historical Park in 1980.  The legislation forbade the National Park Service from acquiring the property while allowing agreements with the owners for educational programs.  In 1984, the Olmsteads and Marie Greenwood gave preliminary information about the house for a survey of sites for baseline information.  Mrs. Greenwood died in 1986.

In 1991, the Olmsteads informed the National Park Service of their intent to sell their home.   The NPS still lacked authority and funds to purchase the house.  The Olmsteads remained active in the community while preparing their historic home for sale.  Changes to the property in the 1990s appear to reflect efforts to increase resale value.  According to manuals and correspondence found in the house, the Olmsteads completed a kitchen remodel in 1994, updating countertop, stove, oven, sinks and dishwasher.  A 1999 real estate listing stated that a new roof had been installed within the last two years.   Their home attracted a local buyer and national attention, including coverage in the New York Times.  The National Trust for Historic Preservation agreed to receive donations and to hold the house for the NPS.  At auction, the Olmsteads sold their historic home to the NTHP for $231,000.  The Olmsteads moved to a new home in Seneca Falls.  After legislation allowing the NPS to acquire the property passed and was signed into law, title to the house transferred from NTHP to the NPS in 2001.

Fifty-five years of Greenwood/Olmstead stewardship renewed the connection of the house to the regional economy and civic activity.  Irving and Marie Greenwood, and Thomas and Joan Greenwood Olmstead, returned the house to its roots.  Irving Greenwood and his brother Leonard brought a business from metropolitan New York to Waterloo that expanded through careful attention to relationships with growers, other producers, workers, and markets.  Greenwood’s passion for institution-building was in evidence as he served on the board of the Finger Lakes Boy Scouts, Waterloo Youth Center, Taylor-Brown Memorial Hospital, the President’s Circle of Eisenhower College, and as director of the Seneca County United Fund.  All of these efforts depended on a well-maintained home and an actively engaged family.  Irving and Marie Greenwood, Leonard Greenwood and his family, Leland C. Henry and his family, and Thomas and Joan Greenwood Olmstead participated in business and community activities, much as Hunt’s extended family had done a century before.  Changes to the house created a home that could host formal gatherings and nourish family.  Like the Hunts before them, the Greenwoods and Olmsteads worked to make their community a better place.  Their home reflected these goals. 

IV.    National Park Service Use

Management and maintenance of the historic Hunt House passed from the National Trust for Historic Preservation to the National Park Service via cooperative agreement nearly immediately after acquiring it.  Since 2003, the NPS has documented the building and grounds, assessed archeological resources, remediated hazardous materials, and replaced and repaired the roof.  A climate-controlled collections storage building was installed in the garage in 2003 to house NPS museum collections.  The grounds have been maintained, driveway resurfaced, and storm-damaged trees removed.  In 2007, a year-long community project to locate historic documents and artifacts related to the Hunt house included public events at the house.  Since then, museum supplies, computer equipment, official records and interpretive program supplies have been stored in the house while trailers and other equipment are stored behind the house.  

The NPS provided lawn care and preventive maintenance to the house exterior under a cooperative agreement with the National Trust for Historic Preservation.  In 2000, the Trust completed a Level 1 Environmental Survey and Hazardous Materials Investigation.  In 2002, the NPS undertook site remediation, removing gas tanks while providing archeological testing and monitoring.  The swimming pool was filled for safety purposes.  In 2003, a Cultural Landscape Inventory was completed by the NPS Olmsted Center for Landscape Preservation.  A climate-controlled collections storage unit was installed in the ca. 1950s garage.  Electricity for the unit required a new pole in a utility right of way managed by special use permit.   The park museum collections were consolidated from various locations into the collection storage unit after an alarm system was installed.  In 2005, the NPS installed site signage at all sites including the Hunt House.  A fence along the western property line was also installed in 2005.

Between 2006 and 2014, the NPS maintained the core structures while completing remediation and investigations.  In 2006, John G. Waite and Associates completed a condition assessment and measured drawings.  In 2007, the NPS partnered with the Terwilliger Museum/Waterloo Library and Historical Society to conduct a year-long community study and some exhibits and events related to Richard P. Hunt.  Descendants shared privately held family heirlooms from the historic period during a session at the Hunt House.  That year the NPS also replaced the furnace with National Trust for Historic Preservation funds, remediated asbestos flooring in the kitchen and bathrooms and around heating ducts, selectively removed architectural features to study changes to the house, and replaced the roof. 

During 2007, a private collection of Hunt Family Papers came to light related to the period 1818-1862.  The NPS acquired the collection in 2008.  Hazardous trees around the house and garage were removed.   Barbara Yocum of the NPS Northeast Region Historic Architecture Program completed a draft historic structure report including the developmental history and fabric analysis of Hunt House features in 2009. A five-year maintenance plan for the house and grounds was approved.  The roof continued to require attention: in 2009 it received repairs; in 2011 the NPS documented, dismantled and stored two of three chimneys until final treatment decisions were made.  In that same year, the Hunt Family Papers were cleaned and prepared for processing.  

Appropriate final treatment decisions required a clear period of significance.  While the above work was completed at the Hunt House, the NPS conducted a Historic Resource Study contextualizing all park sites.  It also updated the documentation for the National Register of Historic Places.  While the 1980 survey included the Hunt House, it found the house and grounds historically significant at the national level for the 1847 to 1849 period around the 1848 First Women’s Rights Convention only.  New documentation expanded the period of significance for the Hunt site (and other park sites related to the 1848 convention) to encompass the years 1836 to 1862. The Hunt House is historically significant at the national level for its association with that convention and with three persons important to the nation’s history:  Richard P. Hunt, Sarah M’Clintock Hunt and Jane Master Hunt.  It is also historically significant at the local level for its association with Richard P. Hunt, a major local industrialist and landholder.  

On the basis of new documentation and an updated period of significance, the National Park Service finalized Foundation Documents and Interpretive Themes in 2013.  The Foundation Documents allow a range of uses for the Hunt house dependent on overall management goals.  In 2013, the Hunt Family Papers were digitized, microfilmed, and prepared for public use.

In 2014, the NPS Northeast Region Historic Architecture, Conservation, and Engineering Branch conducted a site visit and assessment to determine needs for additional structural analysis and to support completion of the historic structure report and treatment plan.  Additional materials investigation in October provided exterior mortar analysis and additional evidence of early first-story doors, stairs, and walls.  The historical background section of the historic structure report was completed by park staff.  
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 “Jane C. Hunt (late Master) who had a right of membership among us, has accomplished her marriage contrary to our established order….We testify that she is no longer a member of the Religious Society of Friends…”  “Philadelphia Northern District Monthly Meeting (Women’s),” March 24, 1846 , FHL.


� Laws of the State of New York Passed at the Sixty-Fifth Session of the Legislature Beun and Held in the City of Albany the fourth day of January 1842  (Albany NY:  Charles Van Benthuysen, 1842)Chap. 151, 189-190;  Elizabeth Wilson M’Clintock to Elizabeth Neall Gay, 21 April 1846, SHG; Mary Ann M’Clintock Jr. to Elizabeth Neall Gay, 1 July 1849, SHG; Willie Mary and Sarah Hunt to Richard Hunt, 11 December 1853; Sarah Hunt to Richard Hunt, 30 December 1853, HFP Box 4, Folder 3.


� Sarah Hunt died May 30, 1842. “A Record of Births and Deaths, Certificates of Removal and Marriage Certificates.” FHL MR-NY-276 (microfilm).  Junius Monthly Meeting of Friends (Hicksite 1828-1863: Galen, NY).  FHL; also given as May 29 in Geneva Gazette  “Died at Waterloo, on the 29th ult., of pulmonary consumption, Sarah, wife of Richard P. Hunt, in the 36th year of her age;” Sallie to Kate Truman, 26 October 1851 (at Hunts), PGT; Sarah Hunt to Richard Hunt, 16 January 1853; Mary Hunt to Richard Hunt, 16 December 1853 HFP Box 3, Folder 22.


� C. Dallet Hemphill, Siblings: Brothers and Sisters in American History (NY: Oxford University Press, 2011) observes that sibling ties intensified in the northeast during the period before the Civil War.   Proceedings of the Yearly Meeting of Congregational Friends, held at Waterloo, N.Y. from the 6th to the 8th of the 6th Month, 1852, (Auburn, N.Y., 1852); Mary Hunt to Richard Hunt, 6 June 1852 HFP Box 3, Folder 22; Mary Hunt and Sarah Hunt to Richard Hunt 14 September 1852; Sarah Hunt to Richard Hunt, n.d., Box 3, Folder 23; Sarah Hunt and Mary Hunt to Richard Hunt, 11 December 1853, 20 December 1853; HFP Box 4, Folder 2.  





� Sarah Hunt To Richard Hunt, 12 November 1853; Mary Hunt to Richard Hunt, 16 December 1853; Sarah Hunt to Richard Hunt, 28 July 1852; Sarah Hunt to Richard Hunt, 31 January 1853, HFP Box 3 Folder 23; Mary Hunt to Richard Hunt, HFP Box 3, Folder 22; Mary Hunt to Sarah Hunt, n.d., HFP Box 4, Folder 3;  Sarah Hunt to Richard   Hunt, 6 April 1854, HFP Box 3, Folder 23.


� Mary Ann M’Clintock to Elizabeth Neall Gay, 24 April 1854, Elizabeth Wilson M’Clintock Phillips to Elizabeth Neall Gay, 10 June 1855; 7  December 1855; 27 July 1856 SHG.  


� “Richard was up and in the dining room shaving himself.…He now lodges in the sitting room.  I have been proposing his going up stairs--as his being down places him directly in the track of all comers and goers and further I think an upper apartment much more healthful than these lower rooms.”  “Isaac Mosher with me in the chamber—is here mostly during the day is acting as clerk for Rich’d and is capable as a nurse.”


“Richard’s Chamber is on the First Floor.  They are in before his attendants are aware of their being in the house.”   


 “When about to clean his chamber he walked into the dining room where sitting on his Patent Chair he looked among the comfortable men.”  


Truman also treated an injury to George Truman Hunt’s finger which had “kept Aunt Jane moving up and down nearly all night,” possibly between her room and the nursery.  


George Truman to Dear Children, 4 July 1856, 14 August 1856, 27 September 1856, 29 September 1856, 2 October 1856  PGT.


� George Truman to family, 7 August 1856, 27 September 1856, George Truman to Catherine Truman, 3 October 1856, George Truman to family, 12 October 1856, PGT.  20 October 1856 Elizabeth Wilson M’Clintock Phillips to Elizabeth Neall Gay, 20 October 1856, SHG.  


�The Friends Intelligencer and the National Anti-Slavery Standard both carried notices of Hunt’s death, written by George Truman. George Truman to Dear Children, 10 November 1856 GTP, Waterloo Observer, n.d., RPH;  Friends’ Intelligencer v. 8 #36 (22 November 1856), 569.


� George Truman to dear children, 10 November 1856, 14November 1856, 15 November 1856, 20 November 1856, PGT.


� George Truman to dear children, 14 November 1856, PGT.  


� George Truman to dear children, 10 November 1856, PGT.


� “Seneca County Court and Court of Sessions,” Ovid (N.Y.) Bee, n.d. (January, 1856).  See Chronology of Development and Use for the effect of the will on property surrounding the Hunt House. 


� Mary Ann M’Clintock to Elizabeth Neall Gay, 27 February 1857, SHG;, George Truman to George Truman, Jr,8  June 1857, PGT, “June 1, 1857 To Cash in Phila $50.45,” and “May 8, 1857 To I. Mosher salary, $50” 1857-1860 Jane C. Hunt account, RPH; Mary Ann Truman M’Clintock to Elizabeth Neall Gay, 9 August 1857, SHG;  no author, The Centennial Celebration of General Sullivan’s Campaign Against the Iroquois in 1779 (Waterloo, N.Y.:  Observer Steam Press, 1880), 22-3.


� Mary Ann M’Clintock to Elizabeth Neall Gay, 27 February 1857, SHG; George Truman to Thomas and Martha Mellor, 23 September 1858, 30 April 1859, PGT.  


� GT to Our Dear Children, 4 July 1859 GTP


�George Truman to George Truman, jr. 18 May 1859, PGT.  Jane C. Hunt’s account (RPH) does not include charges for renovations in 1859.   


� Anti-Slavery Standard Account Book, 1860-1862, SHGP; Eighth Census of the United States, 1860.


� Mary Ann M’Clintock Truman to Elizabeth Neall Gay, 9 August 1857, SHG.  The M’Clintocks and Trumans attended through 1858, George and Margaret Pryor through 1861.  “Friends of Human Progress (Waterloo, New York): Participants at Annual Meetings, 1849-1871,” http://library.buffalo.edu/archives/exhibits/old/urr/PDFs/FHP_WATERLOO.pdf, accessed October 30, 2014, “A Petition from the Friends of Progress Assembled in Waterloo, N.Y., June 1, 1867, to the Constitutional Convention on the subject of Woman Suffrage,” NYSL.  Susan B. Anthony, Elizabeth Cady Stanton, Matilda Joslyn Gage, eds., History of Woman Suffrage V. III (Rochester: Charles Mann Printing Co, 1886), 396.  


� National Register of Historic Places Registration Form, Women’s Rights National Historical Park, entered in the National Register March 14, 2012, 60;  Elizabeth Cady Stanton, Susan B. Anthony and Matilda Joslyn Gage, eds., History of Woman Suffrage Vol. II (New York, N.Y:  Fowler and Wells, 1882), 877.


�“Historical Note on Village Family,” Fayetteville (N.Y.) Bulletin, November 21, 1968; “The Draft,” Syracuse Daily Courier and Union, August 21, 1863;   “The Fire Department,” Syracuse Daily Courier and Union, August 9, 1866; “Convention of Drafted Men,” Syracuse Daily Standard, n.d., 1870.  Gardner was also a notary public.  “Notaries,” Syracuse Daily Courier and Union, March 1, 1862.    


� A.R. Wheeler married Sarah Stevenson in 1834.  He served as county sheriff in the early 1850s; in 1855, he was the foreman of a central NY fireman’s tournament held in Waterloo.  In 1873, Wheeler was president of the Village of Waterloo.  It is unknown how Richard Hunt came to join this firm.  “Married,” Geneva Gazette Advertiser, n.d. (August, 1834); “Firemen’s Tournament at Waterloo, Geneva Gazette, August 3, 1855; “Laying the Corner Stone of a Church,” Geneva Gazette, May 23, 1873.


� William M. Hunt Excelsior Diary, 1873, HVKFP; Ellen G. Hunt Account Book, HVKFP. 


� Ninth Census of the United States, 1870:  Population Schedule.


� Federal Agricultural Census, 1870.  Wages paid out appear excessive against the total value of products sold.  It is possible that, in addition to paying a farm laborer, Hunt paid himself and short term laborers.


� The entire M’Clintock family had moved from Easton, N.J. to Philadelphia in fall, 1859; George Truman to Thomas and Martha Mellor, 30 April 1859, GTP;  William M. Hunt Excelsior Diary, 1873,HVKFP; Seneca Falls and Waterloo Village Directory, 1874-1875 (Syracuse: Evans and Crofoot, 1874).  George T. Hunt and Jane M. Hunt owned the home farm.


� Representative entries for short-term loans appear at March 18, April 4, June 27, September 13 and October 2.  William M. Hunt Excelsior Diary, 1873, HVKFP.  The Centennial Celebration of General Sullivan’s Campaign Against the Iroquois in 1779, (Waterloo, N.Y.:  Observer Steam Press, 1880), 247.


� William M. Hunt Excelsior Diary, 1873, HVKFP


� March 11, 1873, William M. Hunt Excelsior Diary, 1873, HVKFP; Handbook For Immigrants To The United States, Part I. General Directions, Prepared by the American Social Science Association, New York: Hurd and Houghton, 1871, 115-6.


� William M. Hunt Excelsior Diary, 1873, HVKFP


� Wheeler had been county sheriff and one of the county supervisors of the poor. “Waterloo Items,” The Ovid Independent, May 20, 1874; Centennial Celebration, 11-13; History of Seneca County, 1876, 81.  


� Ellen G. Hunt Account Book, HVKFP; William Master Hunt Excelsior Diary, 1873, PHVK; Tenth Census of the United States.  William M. Hunt assigned his inheritance to creditors on March 1, 1879, indicating the failure of his hay and feed business: National Reporter System.  The New York Supplement (v.14) Containing the Decisions of the intermediate and lower courts of record of New York State (St. Paul:  West Publishing. Co., 1891), 48-53.


� Ellen G. Hunt Account Book, HVKFP. Though no estate accounts have been found, these sources and a set of cancelled checks against the executor’s account (RPH) indicate that the trustees controlled the general fund as well as the third of income allotted to Jane Hunt throughout her life--well past the marriage or coming of age of the Hunt children.


� For example, Ellen Hunt and George, http://triptych.brynmawr.edu/cdm/singleitem/collection/SC_Truman/id/120/rec/1


George T. Hunt and Georgie, http://triptych.brynmawr.edu/cdm/singleitem/collection/SC_Truman/id/139/rec/2, accessed October 31, 2014.


Ellen G. Hunt Account Book, HVKFP; Tenth Annual Report of the State Charities Aid Association, (NY, NY: no printer, 1882), p. 112; Annual Report of the State Board of Charities for the Year 1902, Vol. 2 (Albany, NY: The Argus Company, Printers, 1903), 923.


� Tenth Census of the United States; “Stroke of Apoplexy,” Fayetteville Weekly Recorder, July 26, 1883; Kansas State Census, 1885.


� “News in Brief,” Auburn (N.Y.) Bulletin, May 31, 1887; Kansas State Census, 1885; Twelfth Census of the United States, Fayetteville Weekly Recorder,  July 28, 1887, October 18, 1888, June 27, 1889; Friends’ Intelligencer and Journal v. 46 n. 49 (December 7, 1889), 777.


� “Division Finally Made of the Hunt Estate,” Rochester Democrat and Chronicle, April 28, 1890.


� Ellen G. Hunt Account Book, HVKFP; also see Executor’s Checks, 1884-1901, RPH.


� The reference to the “Whiteside brickyard and its seemingly inexhaustible bed of clay,” in a report of the division of the estate indicates that Whiteside was already working the clay bed and the farm when Jane C. Hunt died.  “Final Division Made of Hunt Estate at Waterloo,” Rochester Democrat and Chronicle April 28, 1890.


� Ellen G. Hunt Account Book, HVKFP.  


� The Auburn Bulletin May 16, 1891; Rochester Democrat and Chronicle May 28, 1895.  Van Riper was the Superintendent of the Cayuga and Seneca Canal and former Third Ward trustee, Rochester Democrat and Chronicle, September 12, 1894, March 19, 1895; The Amsterdam (N.Y.) Daily Democrat, June 2, 1894 reported that Mr. Whiteside, a former detective for the Central Railroad, was a “farmer at Waterloo in this state.”  The Auburn Bulletin reported on the card club on February 15 and the funeral on October 21, 1896.


� The Rochester Directory, (Rochester: The Drew Allis Company, 1903), 385. The Rochester Directory, 1904, 396.


� Richardson v. Hunt et. al., April 16, 1891, National Reporter System: The New York Supplement Containing the Decisions of the intermediate and lower courts of record of New York State Vol. 14 (St. Paul:  West Publishing. Co.  1891), 48-53; Mrs. SMH Gardner, Quaker Idyls , (NY: Henry Holt and Co., 1894) and The Fortunes of Margaret Weld (Boston: Arena Publishing, 1894); Deed Sarah M. H. Gardner to Wily H. Schott, May 3, 1907, Seneca County Clerk’s Office, Liber 123 Page 432; Fayetteville (N.Y.) Bulletin,  March 13, 1915; Twelfth Census of the United States, Richard Pell Hunt to “Dear Aunt,” (Mary M. Hunt), June 23, 1905, RPH.


� Ellen G. Hunt Account Book, pp. 136-7, HVKP; “George T. Hunt,” Geneva Daily Times, October 17, 1938; “Mrs. Bertha E. Hunt,”  Geneva Times, May 28, 1959.








� “Opposed to Barge Canal,” Geneva Daily Times, October 13, 1904.





� “He Sprung a Surprise,” Geneva Daily Times, October 3, 1904; “Political Meetings,” “Geneva Daily Times, October 24, 1904; Horace Greeley, The Tribune Almanac and Political Register  (New York:  Tribune Association, 1905), 375 shows the margin as 5080 votes;  Edgar L. Murlin, The New York Red Book  (Albany, N.Y.: J.B. Lyon Co., Publishers, 1906), 153 shows the votes cast as 3625 for Maier to 3545 for Beare.





� “Instructed for Beare,” Geneva Daily Times, September 26, 1905; “Beare for the Assembly,” Auburn Citizen October 2, 1905; “Becker Claims Irregularity,” Geneva Daily Times, August 28, 1906; “Democrats of Seneca County Go on Record,” Rochester Democrat and Chronicle, September 3, 1906; “Seneca Democrats,” Auburn Weekly Bulletin,September 18, 1906; Edgar L. Murlin, The New York Red Book  (Albany, N.Y.: J.B. Lyon Co., Publishers, 1906), 153.  





� “Democratic Lawyers for County Office,” Geneva Daily Times, August 27, 1907; “Both Factions Are Expectant,” Geneva Daily Times, March 19, 1912;  “Rattigan Wins Out,” Auburn Weekly Bulletin, March 22, 1912; “Wins Notable Case,” Geneva Daily Times, November 21, 1912. 





� “Hope to Change Road,” Geneva Daily Times, May 11, 1915.





� National Archives and Records Administration (NARA) Washington, D.C.; Passport Applications, January 2, 1906 – March 31, 1935; ARC Identified 583830/MLR Number A1 534; NARA Series:  M1490; Roll #337; “Personal and Society,” Lyons Republican, March 15, 1918.





�Complaints of graft, abuse, and incompetence made to the Plant Protection Service of the Military Intelligence Service were investigated during Beare’s tenure and reported in a larger congressional inquiry into excess War Department WWI expenditures in 1920. Company officials testified that Beare came to the position well-recommended and left Muscle Shoals “by mutual consent,” “in a way which did not in any way reflect upon his integrity or his ability or his character.”  Muscle Shoals.  United States.  Congress. House.  Select Committee on Expenditures in the War Department 1920 – World War, 1914-1918. War Expenditures:  Hearings Before Subcommittee No. 5 (Ordnance)  Serial 6 Part 55. (Washington, D.C.:  Government Printing Office, 1920), 3609-12, 3722, 3741. 


 


� “Waterloo Briefs,” Geneva Daily Times, February 11, 1919; “Death of Joel L. Lawrence,” Geneva Daily Time,  June 6, 1911 “School Contracts Let,” Syracuse Journal  July 9, 1917;   “Alterations in Waterloo Public School Buildings,” Geneva Daily Times July 10, 1917; Geneva Daily Times May 18, 1916, Geneva Daily Times, October 20, 1924;  “Welling B. Lawrence, Prominent Contractor of Waterloo, Expires,” Rochester Democrat and Chronicle November 9, 1924.





� Fourteenth Census of the United States: 1920—Population; “Perjury Warning by Court,” Auburn Citizen March 4, 1921;  “Youth Placed on Probation,” Geneva Daily Times, June 20, 1921; February 27, 1919; Report of the Superintendent of Public Works on the Canals of the State for the Year Ending June 30, 1919 (Albany, N.Y.:  J.B. Lyon Company, Printers, 1919),  p. 206; Report of the Superintendent of Public Works on the Canals of the State for the Year Ending December 30, 1920 (Albany, N.Y.:  J.B. Lyon Company, Printers, 1922) pp. 136, 193; “Twenty-Nine Trial and Ten Equity Cases on Seneca County Calendar,” Geneva Daily Times, March 3, 1922; “Barrett Trial Opens in Court,” Geneva Daily Times June 16, 1922.





� “Committees in Charge and 1848 Pageant Participants at Famous Woman’s Party Celebration,”  Auburn Citizen, July 20, 1923; “Gleanings From Political Arena in the State,” The Fulton (N.Y.) Patriot, July 26, 1923.





�“Prisoner Had Keys to Jail Witness Says,” Syracuse Journal, July 11, 1923; “Trusties Were Given Liberty Witness Says,” Geneva Daily Times July 12, 1923; “Evidence Shows Politics Entered into Attempt to Remove Sheriff,” Geneva Daily Times July 13, 1923; “Smalley Side Presents But Two on Stand,” Syracuse Journal, July 14, 1923; “Quiz Smalley Whole Day on Witness Stand,” Interlaken Review, August 3, 1923; charges filed in January special commissioner report governor decision “Smith Grants Clean Bill in Smalley Case,” Rochester Democrat and Chronicle, November 5, 1923. 





� “Mother Never Interfered in Son’s Behalf,”   Geneva Daily Times, July 30, 1923; “Court Orders Widow Held on Murder Count,” Auburn Citizen, August 1, 1923,  “Taylor Trial Set Down for December 3,” Auburn Citizen, September 26, 1923, “Widow Weeps as Jury Hears the Story of Murder,” Auburn Citizen, December 19, 1923, “Mrs. Taylor to  Admit Killing?,” Auburn Citizen, December 20, 1923; “Mrs. Taylor Gets Acquittal from Waterloo Jury,” Oswego (N.Y.) Palladium Times, December 22, 1923; “Mrs. Taylor is Acquitted,” The (Corning, N.Y.) Evening Leader, December 22, 1923; “Mrs. Taylor Acquitted, Mother Happy in Auburn,” Auburn Citizen, December 23, 1923.





� “T.M. Osborne and Shuler Delegates,” Auburn Citizen, February 15, 1924.





� “Asks Damages in Accident,” (Corning, N.Y.) Evening Leader,  December 16, 1926 and “Jail Sentence Suspended by Fine,” Geneva Daily Times, March 8, 1928; “Line-fence trial Ends in Judgment of $7.20 and Costs,” Rochester Democrat and Chronicle, October 22, 1926; “Harold Lloyd Buys Four Great Danes at Seneca Kennels,”  Geneva Daily Times, April 5, 1927; “Many Noted Visitors Visit Seneca Kennels,” Geneva Daily Times, April 16, 1927.


 


� Passenger Lists of Vessels Arriving at New York, New York, 1897-1957 (National Archives Microfilm Publication T715) Records of the Immigration and Naturalization Service; National Archives, Reel 4377, page 89, line 3; “The Home of the Great Dane,” Country Life, November, 1929, p. 26-1; “Ruppert Purchases Dog from Waterloo,” Rochester Democrat and Chronicle, January 28, 1930.


�Fifteenth Census of the United States:  1930 Population Schedule; “National Women’s Party to Gain Possession of Old Landmark in Waterloo,” Geneva Daily Times July 5, 1930; “Historic Home Reported Sold,” Rochester Democrat and Chronicle, September 8, 1930.


� Passenger Lists of Vessels Arriving at New York, New York, 1897-1957 (National Archives Microfilm Publication T715) Records of the Immigration and Naturalization Service; National Archives, Reel 5313, page 185, line 11; “Charge Will Made Under Influence,” Geneva Daily Times, October 30, 1934; “Objections to Will Not Sustained,” Geneva Daily Times, October 31, 1934; “Geneva Man Leaves Estate of $83,463.96,” Geneva Daily Times, December 19, 1936; for listing of Beare family burials, � HYPERLINK "http://wayne.nygenweb.net/cemeteries/southlycem.html" �http://wayne.nygenweb.net/cemeteries/southlycem.html�





� “Real Estate Transfers in Seneca County,” Geneva Daily Times, August 14, 1930; “George Hancock Died Thursday,” Geneva Daily Times, December 29, 1917; Fifteenth Census of the United States:  1930 Population Schedule;  “Obituary-Mrs. Abbey Owen Green,” Geneva Daily Times, February 25, 1928;


 “Real Estate Transfers in Seneca County,” Geneva Daily Times, November 3, 1931.








� “Junius Notes and Personals,” Geneva Daily Times, March 7, 1932; “Marengo,” Clyde (N.Y.) Herald, September 18, 1935; “Clyde Personals, Neighborhood News,”  Clyde Herald, October 7, 1936; “Marengo Items,” Clyde Herald, December 2, 1936.





� “Junius Notes and Personals,” Geneva Daily Times, December 1, 1937; “Mary S. Burch,” Geneva Daily Times, December 20, 1937; “Junius Notes and Personals,” Geneva Daily Times, December 24, 1937; “Junius,” Geneva Daily Times, November 26, 1940; “Junius Notes and Personals,” Geneva Daily Times, August 13, 1942, “Junius Notes and Personals,” Geneva Daily Times, November 4, 1941.





� The niche is visible in a 1944 Greenwood family photograph of the north façade.


� “Visit Genevans,” Geneva Daily Times, March 31, 1949; “What About Jay St.?,” Geneva Daily Times, May 10, 1949; “Great-Granddaughter of John Hancock Dies Here Today,” Geneva Daily Times, October 10, 1952; Roy A. Brewster, Index to Surrogate Court, Geneva, � HYPERLINK "http://raims.com/Surr65.html" �http://raims.com/Surr65.html�, accessed September 17, 2014.  That Mr. and Mrs. Charles B. Smith were friends or relatives of the Brewsters is indicated by a report of a visit to them by Mrs. Georgiana Brewster in the Geneva Daily Times on November 11, 1945. 





� See Barbara A. Yocum, Hunt House Historic Structure Report/Historic Data Section.


� “Home Style Company Started Plant Here Four Years Ago—Has Expanded Operations,” Waterloo Observer, October 28, 1948.  Nephew Leland C. Henry joined the firm in 1952, working there until 1977.  Leland C. Henry interview, June 5, 2008.





� “Rotary Club of Waterloo Visits Depot,” Geneva Daily Times, June 23, 1945; “Waterloo Residents Voting on Ash Collection,” Geneva Daily Times, September 11, 1945; “St. Paul’s Couples Hold May Meeting,” Geneva Daily Times, May 15, 1946; “Greenwood Set to Head Waterloo Chamber in ’47,” Geneva Daily Times, November 16, 1946; “Wilcox Takes Gavel as Head of Rotarians,” Geneva Daily Times, July 2, 1947; “Rotary Officials Named at Waterloo,” Geneva Daily Times, April 19, 1948;


 “Plan Campaign for Financial Aid to Scouts,” Geneva Daily Times, January 30, 1947; “New Members Join Area Scout Council Board,” Geneva Daily Times, May 21, 1947.





�“Mayor Candidates to Address Women,” Geneva Daily Times, February 28, 1949; “Waterloo Board Organizes; New Committees Set,” Geneva Daily Times April 5, 1949; Notation on west chimney wall of Hunt House, by O[swald] C Kidd, Interior Decorator dated 1948; “Paul Fitzpatrick to Speak Before County Democrats,” Geneva Daily Times, March 2, 1949; “States Democrats Leader Attacks Dewey’s Budget,” Geneva Daily Times, March 8, 1949; “Waterloo Bans Lengthy Parking,” Geneva Daily Times, April 11, 1949; “Ponders Water Main Extensions, Zoning, ‘Alarm Clocks’,” Geneva Daily Times, September 8, 1949; Geneva Daily Times August 28, 1950; “Waterloo Chamber Secretary Names Committees for ’51,” Geneva Daily Times December 23, 1950; “Agreement Near on Old Canal,” Geneva Daily Times  January 10, 1951; “Waterloo Village Slate Reviewed for Spring Vote,” Geneva Daily Times, March 3, 1951; “Greenwood Loses by 49,” Geneva Daily Times, March 21, 1951.





� Representative articles for Chamber of Commerce and Rotary activities include “Chamber Committee Finds,” Geneva Daily Times December  1, 1954; “At Special Meeting,” Geneva Times, November 3, 1955; “Waterloo Chamber Names Directors,” Geneva Times, November 5, 1956; “Waterloo Chamber Plans Legislative Program,” Geneva Times, January 9, 1959; “Publisher to Address Rotary Club,” Geneva Daily Times May 13, 1954; “Waterloo Rotary Committees Named,” Geneva Times, August 21, 1958.  “Waterloo Little League Reorganized for 1953,” Geneva Daily Times March 5, 1953; “Color TV Still 5 years Away Sylvania Manager Tells Rotary,” Geneva Daily Times, September 24, 1953; on Taylor-Brown Memorial Hospital see “Waterloo Board OKs Plans for New $764,000 Hospital,” Geneva Daily Times January 15, 1955; “Progress Made in Hospital Plans,” Geneva Times,  January 13, 1956; “Seneca County Clerk Records 70 Real Estate Transfers,”  Geneva Times, August 18, 1956; “Hospital Drive Leaders Listed,” Geneva Times, May 20, 1958; “Taylor-Brown Hospital Elects 3 Men as Honorary Directors,”  Geneva Times, February 13, 1959.  On the United Fund, “United Fund to Seek $60,360 in Campaign,” Geneva Times, October 12, 1957; “Waterloo Man to Head County’s United Fund,” Geneva Times, January 30, 1959; on Waterloo National Bank, “Irving Greenwood, New Waterloo Bank Director,” Geneva Times Jan 16, 1958; “1,300 Waterloo Voters Turn Out,” Geneva Times June 22, 1960; “To Dedicate School Sunday,” Geneva Times, October  12, 1961.  For Marie Greenwood’s activities see “Women Bowlers See Kate Smith,” Geneva Daily Times, May 22, 1953; “In Waterloo Homes,” Geneva Daily Times, July 25, 1953; “Goblins to Roam Waterloo Friday,” Geneva Daily Times, October 28, 1953; “22 New Gray Ladies Capped at Sampson,” Geneva Daily Times, March 15, 1954.





� “Year Brings Joy, Death to Waterloo,” Geneva Daily Times, December 31, 1953; “Democrats Name Mount for State Assembly,” Geneva Daily Times, June 29, 1954; “Area Democrats At State Fete,” Geneva Times, September 21, 1957; Geneva Times, June 30, 1960.





� “Greenwood Queries Assessment Figures in Lone Complaint,” Geneva Daily Times, November 28, 1951; “Hearing Adjourned,” Geneva Daily Times December 6, 1952; “Waterloo Studies 2 New Sites for Relocation of Village Dump,” Geneva Times June 18, 1958; “Waterloo Nine to Open May 23 Against Naples,” Geneva Daily Times May 11, 1954; “State Canners Elect,” Niagara Falls Gazette, December 10, 1953; souvenir pictures from national conventions show Greenwood active at the national level as well.


“Name Changed by Waterloo Company,” Geneva Times, November 15, 1955; “Waterloo Canned Goods Known Across Nation,” Geneva Times  September  4, 1957.








�“Olmstead to Head Greenwood Foods,” Geneva Times January 11, 1967; “Waterloo Firm Reports,” Geneva Times, January 22, 1958; “Waterloo Maintains High Retail, Industrial Output,” Geneva Times, August 15, 1960. 





� “Joan K. Greenwood Becomes Bride of Thomas Olmstead,” Geneva Times, June 23, 1953; ”Real Estate Transfers,” Geneva Times June 7, 1957; Olmstead, et. al., interview, June 2, 2008; Leland C. Henry interview, June 5, 2008.





�“Edgar Backus Jr. Heads JCs,” Geneva Times, March 22, 1956; “Accepted by Directors,” Geneva Times, December 11, 1958; “Guild Holds Membership Tea” Geneva Times, February 11, 1957; “Awards are Presented at Annual Tea for Red Cross,” Geneva Daily Times, February 24, 1955.








� “Sale of Greenwood Foods,” Geneva Times, July 31, 1961; “Cause of Fish-Killing Canal Pollution Unknown,” Geneva Times, October 18, 1961; “Executive Vice President of Comstock-Greenwood Plant,” Geneva Times,” October 4, 1967; “Names in the News,” Geneva Times, February 3, 1968; “Pfeiffers buys Lohmann Foods,” Geneva Times,  April 14, 1972.


� “Greenwood Executive to Head Chamber Here,” Geneva Times, November 2, 1960; “Rotary Projects,” Geneva Times May 25, 1963 “Pledge Stickers Evident,” Geneva Times September 29, 1964; “Waterloo School Plans OKd,” Geneva Times,  June 20, 1966; “Church Has Every Member Canvass,” Geneva Times, October 29, 1970; a representative sample of Joan Olmstead’s community activities in the 1950s and 1960s include “Guild Holds Membership Tea” Geneva Times February 11, 1957; “Blood Quota Missed,” Geneva Times,  June 10, 1964; “Chapter Will Present Movie,” Geneva Times, March 18, 1966; “Hospital Auxiliary Events Added to Auction,” Geneva Times, April 26, 1966; “Seneca Community Players Get Official Name, Open Season,” Geneva Times, June 26, 1972.  Family photographs document the 1968 reenactment of the 1848 tea (OFP).





�“Greenwood Heads Hospital,” Geneva Times, February 14, 1963; “Hospital Wing Planned,” Geneva Times, July 1, 1963; “Hospital Board Elects Directors,” Geneva Times, February 10, 1965; Greenwood was the campaign chairman for the 1970 and 1970 campaigns of the United Fund, the forerunner of United Way, “Greenwood Heads Fund,” Geneva Times, July 8, 1970;  “United Fund Appeal is $88,888,” Geneva Times, September 15, 1970; “United Fund Renames Huntington,” Geneva Times, January 13, 1971; “President’s Council Officers Set,” Geneva Times August 10, 1967; “McComb Chairman of Eisenhower’s President’s Council,” Geneva Times, December 16, 1971; “Among the First Signers,”  Geneva Times, July 29, 1970.


�Geneva Times, April 18, 1973; “In Memory of Irving Greenwood,” President’s Council of Eisenhower College, April 24, 1973, Joan Olmstead Family Papers; “Taylor-Brown directors Choose Osborne,” Geneva Times, April 15, 1974.


�“Fresh Air families renew FL friendships,” Geneva Times, October 9, 1973; “Hospital auxiliary honors veteran volunteer workers,” Geneva Times, November 15, 1973; “Two Officers,” Geneva Times, June 18, 1975; Seneca County Deeds L. 373, p. 230; “Seneca Deed Transfers,” Finger Lakes Times, October 17, 1977.


�See Chronology of Development and Use for specifics on alterations to house in this period.


� Joan Olmstead, Doris Greenwood Depp, Tom Olmstead, Robin Olmstead Cain interview, June 2, 2008.


�“Waterloo Studies 2 New Sites for Relocation of Village Dump,” Geneva Times June 18, 1958; “Village Board Pushes Compliance Of Zoning Ordinance In Waterloo,” Geneva Times,  March 26, 1963; “Waterloo law enforcement said inadequate,” Finger Lakes Times, October 26, 1977; “Democrats flex their muscles,” Finger Lakes Times, April 10, 1979; Olmstead Family Papers.
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